From the Department of Clinical Neuroscience Karolinska Institutet, Stockholm, Sweden

# MULTISENSORY CONTROL OF GAZE STABILIZATION

# FROM BRAINSTEM TO BEDSIDE

Tobias Wibble



Stockholm 2021

All previously published papers were reproduced with permission from the publisher.

Published by Karolinska Institutet.

Printed by Universitetsservice US-AB, 2021

© Tobias Wibble, 2021

ISBN 978-91-8016-319-4

On the cover: The schematic of an eye with arrows indicating each distinct movement direction as caused by a dedicated extraocular muscle. Below is a vestibular apparatus, with a man and lamprey in motion. Created with BioRender.com.

### Multisensory Control of Gaze Stabilization From Brainstem to Bedside THESIS FOR DOCTORAL DEGREE (Ph.D.)

By

## **Tobias Wibble**

The thesis will be defended in public at St. Erik Eye Hospital, Aulan, Eugeniavägen 12, Solna, on Nov 22, 2021, 09:00.

Principal Supervisor: Associate Professor Tony Pansell Karolinska Institutet Department of Clinical Neuroscience Division of Eye and Vision

*Co-supervisor(s):* Assistant Professor Juan Pérez-Fernández Universidade de Vigo Department of Functional Biology and Health Sciences CINBIO

Dr. Frank Träisk Karolinska Institutet Department of Clinical Neuroscience Division of Eye and Vision *Opponent:* Professor David S. Zee Johns Hopkins University Department of Neurology

Examination Board: Professor Måns Magnusson Lund University Department of Otorhinolaryngology

Professor Tatiana Deliagina Karolinska Institutet Department of Neuroscience

Professor Bertil Lindblom University of Gothenburg Sahlgrenska akademin

To my grandparents, who made sure I did my homework.

### POPULAR SCIENCE SUMMARY OF THE THESIS

There is rarely a moment when you're completely unaffected by motion. Even when sitting still in a still environment, the rhythm of your heartbeat will make your body shift ever-so-slightly. This usually doesn't bother us, and to our eyes the world appears still. This is because our inner ears, part of the vestibular system, continuously feed the brain with information on how the head is positioned and where it's going. The resulting signal activates the muscles controlling our eyes through the vestibulo-ocular reflex (VOR), which makes the eyes move in the opposite direction of the head. Visual motion can also recruit these muscles through the optokinetic reflex (OKR), which ensures that our eyes follow large scale movements in the visual field. Eye movements like thee are called gaze-stabilizing, as they aim to keep a visual scene stable on the retina. In everyday conditions, these two reflexes interact, and gaze-stabilization relies on both visual and vestibular information to keep us from perceiving the world as shaky or unstable. It is when these two systems supply the brain with mismatched information that a sense of vertigo or motion-sickness arises.

The brain's command centre for issuing gaze-stabilizing eye movements is located within the brainstem. This most primordial of vertebrate neural structures deals with many aspects of everyday life that we never think about, including balance. While several studies have explored the way our cortex influences our eye movement control, less is known about the brainstem's contribution to gaze-stability. This thesis aims to provide new insights into these mechanisms. In order to achieve this on a broad front, the studies attached to this work deals with 1) the neural network allowing gaze-stability in the brainstem, 2) quantifying the way vision and vestibular signals interact to produce gaze-stabilization in healthy humans, and 3) investigating how these eye movements relate to balance and how they serve a clinical purpose.

The lamprey represents our earliest vertebrate ancestor still alive today. Its brain is nevertheless remarkably similar to our own in many ways, and thanks to its accessible layout proved a valuable model for studying how multiple senses contribute towards gazestabilization. Our first trials showed that the multisensory interaction was very similar to that seen in humans, meaning that its supporting neural structure likely operates according to the same basic principles as our own. Through performing precise lesions, and recording activity in the eye muscles and several neural cores in the brain, we were able to produce a map of the fundamental pathway of gaze-stabilization. In this process, we recorded the earliest form of the OKR, and showed that the vertebrate VOR has remained conserved throughout evolution, and that the merging of these two eye movements relies on very basic pathways in the brain.

The next set of studies aimed at finding a way to measure sensitive a person may be to visual and vestibular information. When a person tilts the head, the eyes will rotate in the opposite direction through the VOR. When that same person views a rotating visual scene, the eyes will rotate to follow it. These torsional eye movements aren't under any real voluntary control, meaning that they will reflect the brain activity at its most basal neural level. In order to test how the OKR and VOR interact, we rotated people in a mechanical chair while they viewed a visual scene. In addition, they were tasked with sitting still and watching that same scene rotate, as well as being rotated themselves in complete darkness. In this way we were able to get the eye movement responses to visual, vestibular, and combined visuovestibular stimulations. In a set of trials we could show that the relative importance of a visual scene goes up the more cluttered it gets, while it goes down as the movement goes faster. These results were expected based on what we know about the visual and vestibular systems, but the protocols we established here offer a new method through which their relative importance can be reliably quantified. In addition, we knew that a head tilt results in a vertical realignment of the eyes, but our results showed that this eye movement was also seen when watching the visual scene. This response is called vertical vergence, and is considered to reflect activity of the vestibular segment of the brainstem, or as a side-effect of a torsional eye movement brought on by the mechanical constraints of the eye. It was therefore curious that the size of the vertical vergence response appeared to be independent of the torsion.

In order to dig deeper into the nature of this vertical vergence of the eyes, we performed a study testing how it responses to changes in the visual scene. More specifically, we had subjects view a rotating image both with the eyes open as normal, and with one eye occluded with an infrared-translucent sheath that allowed the eye-tracker to still record the vertical vergence. It transpired that the vergence was increased with one eye closed, indicating that vision actually acts to supress the response even though it was caused by a rotation of the visual field. While further studies are needed, we believe this may stem from it being caused by a visual activation of the vestibular region of the brainstem; as more information is retrieved when both eyes are open, the visual input serves to tell the brain that no tilt is actually taking place. Going deeper into the relationship between visual motion and vestibular responses, we set out to see how cluttered visual surroundings may affect a person's balance. Once again we had people view a rotating visual scene, but this time we recorded their stress responses, reflected in an increased pupil size, as well as body-sway as indicated by the

change in pressure on a balance board that subjects were standing on. As the visual clutter was increased, subjects responded with greater sway, increased stress, and faster torsional eye movements. This may go a long way in explaining why some people experience discomfort in visually cluttered environments, as they provoke the balance system even if we aren't consciously aware of it.

The final step of this string of studies was to test these new protocols in a clinical setting. As stated before, vision and vestibular information must coalesce in order to give us a good perception of balance. The mismatch-model states that if these systems relay different types of information we may experience motion-sickness. Most people are familiar with the sensation, for example when traveling as a passenger in a car; our inner ears tell us that we are stationary, but visually we are moving at incredible speeds beyond what our body should be capable of performing. Antihistamines make up the most common form of treatment for motion-sickness. It has been theorized that they work through inhibiting the vestibular system though studies diverge in their conclusions, some stating that they instead inhibit our sensitivity to visual motion. As the protocols developed for this thesis were able to test both visual and vestibular influences on our brain, as recorded by the eye movement response, we set out to test how Meclizine, a common antihistamine, influences our senses. The results showed that under normal conditions, when exposed to a combination of visual and vestibular input under low accelerations, the drug has an inhibitory effect on gaze-stabilization. In contrast, this response is enhanced if the acceleration becomes too big, or when only the VOR is triggered by a head rotation in darkness. It would consequently seem as if Meclizine reaches its effect by inhibiting the merging of visual and vestibular information in normal conditions, which agrees with the notion that this type of 1<sup>st</sup> generation antihistamines have a stronger effect on the central nervous system than later generations, having stronger sideeffects in the form of sedation. Still, the results reflect a complex effect of Meclizine, and further studies are needed to shed further light on this phenomenon.

Gaze-stabilization offers us valuable insights into the ways the brain handles visual and vestibular information. The works in this thesis touch upon a number of key elements that allow us to retain a stable perception of the world in spite of all the motion that surrounds us. There is plenty of room to delve deeper into the neural circuitry that allows this to happen, and the method established in this thesis could offer valuable new approaches to studying how damages to the brain may affect our control of eye movements, as well as our control of balance. The eye movements outlined in the published articles could also prove beneficial when diagnosing and rehabilitating people with sensory deficits or unclear problems of

dizziness or vertigo, as we can investigate which system may be affected by a drug or medical complaint. Visually induced vertigo is an example of such a condition where visual motion can trigger a person's balance response, and our findings provide further context for how such a condition may be reflected by reflexive eye movements. Altogether, this thesis outlines new ways in which we can use gaze-stabilization to aid in research and healthcare.

## ABSTRACT

Without the continuous updates provided by the vestibular and visual systems, our world would appear blurry and unstable. In order to allow the retina to reliably record incoming light in a meaningful way, the vestibulo-ocular reflex (VOR) and optokinetic reflex (OKR) aim to stabilize our gaze on visual features. The VOR performs this function by causing the eyes to move in the opposite direction of the head, whereas the OKR allows the eyes to instinctively pursue a moving visual scene. Together, they make up the gaze-stabilizing eye movements available to us humans, and represent the origins of all vertebrate oculomotor control. The neurophysiological principles governing these responses appear to have been very well-conserved throughout evolution, although the basic mechanisms through which the VOR and OKR are integrated in the brainstem are still not fully mapped; in nominal conditions, gaze-stabilization will rely on seamless merging of visual and vestibular information at this level. While it is difficult to analyse the activity of such an integration in humans, tracking the VOR and OKR can offer valuable insights into how the brain responds to motion in different conditions. This thesis aims to further our understanding of gazestabilization by implementing a series of translational protocols which may be divided into three segments. 1) We will elucidate the basic neural principles and evolutionary origins of gaze-stabilization in the lamprey animal model, 2) investigate how eye movement responses reflects this visuovestibular integration in healthy subjects, and 3) test these findings in a clinical setting.

The basic science experiments featured a combination of behavioural and electrophysiological methodologies. In the first stage, video eye-tracking was used to monitor gaze-stabilizing eye movements in three dimensions. In this way we recorded both slow- and fast eye movements in all planes in what may be the phylogenetically oldest example of nystagmus. The next phase involved performing electrophysiological recordings to investigate the neural network that would allow for this primordial gaze-stabilization. As both visual and vestibular information is used to construct these eye movements, we constructed a rotating platform synchronized with two monitors for optokinetic stimuli. This platform was capable of holding an ex-vivo lamprey preparation while performing electrophysiological recordings to whether the lamprey possess an OKR, which we were able to observe as eye muscle activity scaled with optokinetic velocities in the pitch and roll planes. Combining visual and vestibular stimulations in the tilting platform, we saw that the conjoined OKR-VOR exhibited clear additive properties, which favoured the vestibular modality as the velocity was

increased. Lesioning experiments showed that pretectum is vital for relaying the optokinetic signal towards the OKR, whereas tectum downregulates its intensity. Curiously, there was no clear OKR in the yaw plane. We did however record clear compensatory eye movements during locomotion using a semi-intact preparation in the corresponding directions. As a way to map the trajectory of the signals underlying these responses we performed tracer injections of key structures in the brain. As a result, we were able to visualize the fundamental neural network of gaze-stabilization.

Implementing similar principles as those outlined above, we tested how healthy human gazestabilization behaves in the roll plane under various circumstances. Using a mechanized sled capable of full-body rotations coupled with visual stimulations on a projected screen, healthy subjects wore an eye-tracking device while exposed to different levels of visual clutter and movement accelerations. Roll plane VOR and OKR responses can be monitored in terms of the ocular torsion, which sees the eyes torque around their axes. Unlike translational gazestabilizers this eye movement lacks any meaningful somatic innervation, meaning that it offers a clearer reflection of the fundamental reflex. Throughout these studies we recorded increased gain in ocular torsion to intensified visual and vestibular variables. In addition, when comparing the torsional response for the VOR and OKR to the joint visuovestibular response it became clear that they reliably produced summative responses. This phenomenon was then used to quantify the relative influence of each sense during movements.

Vertical vergence is a known physiological response to a head tilt and associated with ocular torsion. When performing the previously outlined studies we found that such a divergence of the eyes may also be triggered by optokinetic rotations. The torsion-vergence ratio increased to visual clutter and decreased with an upregulated acceleration of the stimulus motion. In order to ensure that the vergence was not secondary to torsion, we tested how it responded to visual information by having subjects view a rotating scene binocularly as well as monocularly. Results showed the vergence amplitude was increased during monocular viewing, suggesting that the response is suppressed during nominal binocular viewing. Furthermore, as postural control also involves similar multisensory modalities as gaze-stabilization, the relationship between postural sway and the OKR was tested. This involved a procedure where subjects watched a rotational optokinetic scene while standing on a balance board. Torsional gain was positively correlated with postural sway, as well as with the sympathetic response indicated by an increased pupillary dilation.

Having established that the OKR-VOR interaction could be used to infer their relative importance during a head roll, we implemented our visuovestibular protocol in a

pharmaceutical study testing the effects of Meclizine. Antihistamines like these are widely used as anti-emetic drugs, and are primarily attributed with reaching their desired effect by inhibiting the vestibular system. Contrary to this hypothesis, the torsional response showed increased vestibular influences during high velocities, although a converse inhibiting effect under nominal visuovestibular conditions at low accelerations. These findings may reflect the anti-emetic's inhibiting effect on the central integration of the sensory information.

Through its translational approach to gaze-stabilization, the studies in this thesis offer new insights into the neural activity that govern eye movement control. The results presented above can be further contextualized in relation to the overarching aims of this work.

1) As the lamprey exhibiting OKR, VOR and locomotion-supported eye movements, it is clear that gaze-stabilization was well-developed already at the dawn of vertebrate evolution. The presence of nystagmus indicates that the neural mechanism for goal-oriented saccades was present at this time, and that it likely operates through tectal downregulation of the OKR. Pretectum has been shown to act as the first integrator of visual motion in several vertebrate species, which holds true also for the lamprey. In addition, this thesis shows that a VOR-OKR interaction can be maintained without cerebellar or cortical influences. The fundamental network instead relies completely on a few subcortical structures.

2) Our subsequent studies in human subjects revealed even more robust visuovestibular integration, showing that torsional gain may be used to test the influence of the sensory modalities in any given scenario. Our studies on the rotational OKR reveal that vergence is an intrinsic part of the response, and as it suppressed by binocular vision it is tempting to suggest it may reflect a visual activation of the vestibular nuclei. This visuo-vestibular pathway could also explain the correlation between visual clutter, postural sway and increased sympathetic stress, as it would allow reflexive postural strategies without conscious interference.

3) We implemented the aforementioned visuovestibular protocols to evaluate the effects of Meclizine, which suggested that it may be through central inhibitory effects that its antiemetic effects are achieved. This finding is in line with well-established notion that 1<sup>st</sup> generation antihistamines are more efficient due to their properties on the central nervous system, being associated with stronger side-effects in the form of general sedation.

In conclusion, this thesis approaches gaze-stabilization from a broad perspective, shining new light on the neural network as well as identifying new features of the human eye movement response. Having established the fundamental principles that govern the integration of these reflexes, our findings open up for investigating the next order of integration, as several neural structures influence the gaze-stabilizing responses. The somatosensory influences towards this process remain poorly known, and future studies may benefit from mapping how the signal for locomotion-supported eye-movements is incorporated into the system. While we have indicated how torsion and vergence may hold utility, additional studies are needed to formalize the measuring of such processes for clinical use. Altogether, these findings could offer a valuable approach to evaluating sensory deficits, and aid in developing protocols for personalized medicine and rehabilitation.

# LIST OF SCIENTIFIC PAPERS

Asterisk (\*) denotes corresponding author:

- I. Wibble, T., Pansell, T., Grillner, S., Pérez-Fernández, J\*. Visuo-vestibular gaze control Conserved subcortical processing. *Submitted*.
- II. **Wibble, T\***. & Pansell, T. Vestibular Eye Movements Are Heavily Impacted by Visual Motion and Are Sensitive to Changes in Visual Intensities. *Investigative Ophthalmology & Visual Science* **60**, 1021-1027 (2019).
- III. Wibble, T\*., Engström, J., Pansell, T. Visual and Vestibular Integration Express Summative Eye Movement Responses and Reveal Higher Visual Acceleration Sensitivity than Previously Described. *Investigative Ophthalmology & Visual Science* 61, 4-4 (2020).
- IV. Wibble, T\*. & Pansell, T. Optokinetic stimulation induces vertical vergence, possibly through a non-visual pathway. *Scientific Reports* 10, 15544, doi:10.1038/s41598-020-72646-8 (2020).
- V. Wibble, T\*., Sodergard, U., Traisk, F., Pansell, T. Intensified visual clutter induces increased sympathetic signalling, poorer postural control, and faster torsional eye movements during visual rotation. *PLoS One* 15, e0227370, doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0227370 (2020).
- VI. Wibble, T\*., Engström, J., Verrecchia, L., Pansell, T. The effects of meclizine on motion sickness revisited. *British Journal of Clinical Pharmacology* 86, 1510-1518, doi:10.1111/bcp.14257 (2020).

## LIST OF SCIENTIFIC PAPERS NOT INCLUDED IN THESIS

- I. Frattini, D. & **Wibble, T\***. Alertness and visual attention impact different aspects of the optokinetic reflex. *Investigative Ophthalmology & Visual Science*. **62**, 16, doi:10.1167/iovs.62.13.16 (2021)
- II. Suzuki, DG., Pérez-Fernández, J., Wibble, T., Kardamakis, AA., Grillner S\*. The role of the optic tectum for visually evoked orienting and evasive movements. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 116 (30), 15272–15281, doi: 10.1073/pnas.1907962116 (2019).

# CONTENTS

1	Introduction5				
	1.1	Evolution of vision			
		1.1.1	General introduction of purpose and function	5	
		1.1.2	Vertebrate eye movements across the seven classes	6	
	1.2	Principles of gaze stabilization			
		1.2.1	General principles	8	
		1.2.2	Vestibular activation and the vestibule-ocular reflex	10	
		1.2.3	The optokinetic reflex	15	
		1.2.4	From lamprey to man	18	
	1.3	Reading the brain through eye movements			
		1.3.1	Reflexive postural control	21	
		1.3.2	Stress responses and the autonomic nervous system	22	
	1.4	The cl	linical use of gaze-stabilization	23	
		1.4.1	Peripheral findings	24	
		1.4.2	Central findings	25	
2	Rese	arch ai	ms	28	
	2.1	The ne	eural network	28	
	2.2	New i	nsights into the physiological response	28	
	2.3	3 Clinical implementations			
3	Summary of studies				
	3.1	Visuo	-vestibular gaze control – conserved subcortical processing	29	
		3.1.1	Aim	29	
		3.1.2	Outline	29	
		3.1.3	Results	30	
		3.1.4	Discussion	32	
	3.2	Vestibular eye movements are heavily impaced by visual motion and are			
		sensiti	ive to changes in visual intensities	33	
		Visua	l and vestibular integration express summative eye movement		
		responses and reveal higher visual acceleration sensitivity than previously			
		descri	bed	33	
		3.2.1	Aim	33	
		3.2.2	Outline	33	
		3.2.3	Results	35	
		3.2.4	Discussion	36	
	3.3	Intensified visual clutter induces increased sympathetic signalling, poorer			
		postural control, and faster torsional eye movements during visual			
		rotation			
		3.3.1	Aim		
		3.3.2	Outline		
		3.3.3	Results		
		3.3.4	Discussion	40	

		3.4 Optokinetic stimulation induces vertical vergence, possibly through a					
		non-visual pathway					
			3.4.1	Aim	42		
			3.4.2	Outline	42		
			3.4.3	Results	43		
			3.4.4	Discussion	43		
3.5 The effects of meclizine on				ffects of meclizine on motion sickness revisited	45		
			3.5.1	Aim	45		
			3.5.2	Outline	45		
			3.5.3	Results	46		
			3.5.4	Discussion	46		
	4	Sum	ummary		49		
	5	Con	nclusions				
	6	Poin	ints of perspective				
	7	Met	Methodological considerations				
		7.1 Ethical considerations					
		7.2 Lamprey studies					
		7.3	Huma	n studies	61		
	Acknowledgements						
	8	References					

# LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

aCSF	Artificial cerebrospinal fluid
AON	Anterior octavolateral nucleus
AOS	Accessory optic system
ANS	Autonomic nervous system
C-ETD	Chronos eye-tracking device
СОР	Centre of pressure
COR	Cervico-ocular reflex
Deg	Degree
DLR	Dorsal light reflex
DVD	Dissociated vertical divergence
EOM	Extraocular muscle
HIT	Head impulse test
IVN	Inferior vestibular nucleus
LC	Locus coeruleus
LVN	Lateral vestibular nucleus
MVN	Medial vestibular nucleus
nMLF	Nucleus of the medial longitudinal fasciculus
ms	Millisecond
N.III	Oculomotor nucleus
N.IV	Trochlear nucleus
N.VI	Abducens Nucleus
OCR	Ocular counter-roll
OKR	Optokinetic reflex
ОТ	Ocular torsion
PNS	Parasympathetic nervous system
r-VOR	Rotational vestibulo-ocular reflex
Sec/s	Second
SC	Superior colliculus
SCC	Semicircular canal
SNS	Sympathetic nervous system

SVN	Superior vestibular nucleus
t-VOR	Translational vestibulo-ocular reflex
VES	Vestibular
vHIT	Video head impulse test
VIS	Visual
VISVES	Visuovestibular
VMH	Visual motion hypersensitivity
VOR	Vestibulo-ocular reflex
VOT	Visually induced torsion
VN	Vestibular nucleus
VV	Vertical vergence
WBB	Wii balance board

### **1 INTRODUCTION**

#### **1.1 EVOLUTION OF VISION**

#### 1.1.1 General introduction of purpose and function

It is the overarching ambition of this thesis to approach gaze-stabilization from a broad perspective, from mapping its most fundamental neural network to characterizing how visual and vestibular information contribute to these compensatory reflexes in humans. Eye movements are ancient and were present already at the onset of vertebrate evolution <sup>1</sup>. Remarkably little has changed in terms of how our eyes remain fixed in space as we move through an ever-changing environment, and the extraocular muscles and their innervation have remained largely conserved from jawless fish to primates. Still, as the vertebrate brain increased in size to generate an increasingly complex set of behaviours, the neural network impacting gaze-stabilization will have expanded by employing cortical, subcortical and cerebellar regions in this automated response.

Vision has emerged as the primary sensory informant for humans, involving several interconnected pathways in a complex neural system<sup>2</sup>. The brain, in turn, relies on the eyes to provide it with the sensory data needed to produce said vision. In order to contextualize the principles of gaze-stabilization, it may be advantageous to present the process through which eye movements were formed. If we by the term vision refer to the detection of light, the first forms of light-detecting cells would have constituted simple binary on-off cells. These primordial sensory cues may have allowed their owners some simple phototactic responses. As photosensitive cells gathered into a concave surface, the inclination of incoming light would provide a sense of direction in an early form of image-forming eye. The earliest example of vision comes from fossils of trilobites, an extinct species of arthropods that evolved 530 million years ago <sup>3,4</sup>. The birth of image forming vision allow for more complex interpretations of the visual surroundings. In order to separate self-motion from that of external stimuli, and to maintain focus on an object moving across the visual scene, there arose a need to stabilize the image. Without compensatory eye movements the photoreceptors may fail to accurately register the viewed object properly, as the visual scene would risk crossing the photoreceptors too fast for them to activate properly<sup>5</sup>.

Eyes exemplify the concept of convergent evolution, and with several sets of eyes abiding by the same general principles the gaze-stabilizing mechanisms have evolved independently across multiple taxa, eventually giving rise to several eye movement forms <sup>6</sup>. Vertebrate eyes generally tend to function according to the same principles, and although operating according

to the same basic mechanism as many invertebrates they make up a distinct building plan easily distinguishable from that of arthropods and cephalopods <sup>7</sup>. It is likely that goal-oriented gaze-shifts and fixating eye movements arose from the neural template of gaze-stabilization <sup>6,8</sup>, and so understanding these fundamental sensorimotor reflexes are central for mapping the neurophysiology of eye-movements, reflecting the peripheral detection of a movement and its subsequent integration in the brain.

The two primary sensory contributors to gaze-stability are the vestibular system through the vestibulo-ocular reflex (VOR), and vision in the form of the optokinetic reflex (OKR). While some vertebrate classes exhibit additional contributors towards these compensatory responses, most notably locomotion, they constitute the basis for clamping a visual feature on the retina. Before concentrating on the specifics of the VOR and OKR, it may be beneficial to first illustrate how they fit within the framework of eye-movement control.

#### 1.1.2 Vertebrate eye movements across the seven classes

As this thesis make use of the oldest extant vertebrate as an animal model, the lamprey, to infer visuovestibular control of primate eye movement control, this chapter will feature a brief comparative summary of vertebrate eye movements. These can be arranged into three separate classes: gaze-stabilizing, gaze-shifting, and fixational. Each can in turn be separated into further subclasses, as outlined in table 1.

Gaze-stabilizations <sup>8-11</sup>	Gaze-shifts <sup>12</sup>	Fixational eye movements <sup>13</sup>
Optokinetic reflex	Saccades	Microsaccades
Vestibulo-ocular reflex	Vergence	Ocular drifts
Corollary discharges	Smooth-tracking	Ocular microtremors

Table 1. A summary of the major classes of vertebrate eye movements and their subordinate categories.

Prior to the studies undertaken in this thesis, the phylogenetically oldest vertebrate eye movement was believed to be the lamprey VOR, allowing the vestibular system to produce a compensatory eye movement in the opposite direction of a head movement <sup>1</sup>. Studies performed in cartilaginous fish had yielded only inclusive optokinetic responses, and the earliest OKR had only been conclusively shown in osteichtyes as reflected in eye movement

reflexively following a moving visual scene <sup>8</sup>. Chondricthyes have however been shown to express compensatory eye movements through corollary discharge during locomotion <sup>8</sup>. This type of eye movements are not always counted towards those of gaze-stabilizers, though I believe a point can be made for its inclusion.

Eye movements compensating for locomotion through spinal efference copies have been shown in dogfish and tadpoles <sup>14,15</sup>. One may consider it appear likely that oculomotor compensation through locomotion efference copies is represented in the neural networks beyond those of cartilaginous fish and amphibians, though the extent of their utility may differ greatly between species <sup>16</sup>. It should also be noted that the presence of an eye movement within a vertebrate class does not necessarily mean that all members exhibit them; studies in humans have shown that proprioceptive feedback through the neck muscles can induce eye movements, though these responses appear to be subthreshold for providing meaningful image stabilization <sup>17</sup>.

Fixational eye movements are perhaps the least explored of the eye movement types. These miniscule corrections ensure that the eyes can remain in position. They have been shown in all vertebrate classes from bony fish to mammals, in both foveated and afoveated species, and without fixation, the world would appear blurry <sup>18</sup>. One may postulate that the presence of such fixations imply a need to counteract the mechanical forces of the orbita caused by the flexibility of the extraocular muscles (EOM). As such, it appears likely that this set of eye movements would be intrinsically linked with the primordial gaze-stabilizers of the OKR and VOR.

Gaze-shifts are goal-oriented eye movements purposed to redirect visual attention <sup>19</sup>. Saccades are quick ballistic eye movements, redirecting visual focus from one part of the visual field to another in a movement which cannot be stopped once initiated <sup>20</sup>. These are the types of eye movements one would implement when reading this text. Vergence allows horizontal and vertical alignment of the eyes to allow for binocularity and visual acuity when focusing between objects at varying distances, or adjust for binocular disparity <sup>21</sup>. An example may include first looking at a bird through the window and then having the eyes converge inwards to shift focus to a smidge on the window glass. Smooth-tracking is seemingly limited to primates, and has the eyes pursue a moving visual feature as it moves, for example when following a car or a train passing by with your eyes <sup>12</sup>.

Unlike stabilizing and fixating eye movements, gaze-shifts may be subject to voluntary somatic control <sup>6</sup>. Much like fixational eye movements, these are comprised of features that

were already present in the OKR and VOR; a vestibulo-ocular reflex involves an initial slowphase component in the opposite direction of the head rotation followed by a quick-phase, and the same mechanism is found in the OKR's response to visual movements <sup>12,22</sup>. Vergence is also part of the VOR, as the eyes diverge vertically during head rolls (tilting) and horizontally during head surge (moving forward and backward) while maintaining visual fixation, though this horizontal vergence is also under voluntary control <sup>23</sup>. The voluntary initiation of these movements are issued from cortical input from several regions, most notably the frontal eye field <sup>24</sup>. Their implementation, however, rely on the subcortical activation of a number of key nuclei in the brainstem, which initially emerged to support gaze-stabilization <sup>6,8,12,25</sup>. Despite the importance of these structures, and the utility of the resulting eye-movements in clinical and scientific protocols, there are still many aspects that may benefit from further investigation. This thesis will consequently focus on the most basic level of control of gaze-stabilization in the brainstem and its integration of visual and vestibular information, and study the same sensory integration in humans during stimulation in the least studied direction of movement, the roll plane.

#### 1.2 PRINCIPLES OF GAZE STABILIZATION

Having established the purpose and main functions of eye movement control, this chapter will provide further commentary on the specific components of gaze-stability. This will be done initially from the human perspective before introducing the conserved nature of lamprey oculomotion and how it compares to that of primates, with special reference to roll plane responses.

#### 1.2.1 General principles

Vertebrate gaze stabilization is, as previously noted, primarily maintained through two reflexive eye movements. Movements in the visual field produce an optokinetic reflex (OKR), in which retinal information results in an activation of select extraocular muscles so that the eyes may follow the visual scene <sup>26</sup>. A head movement will cause an activation of the vestibulo-ocular reflex (VOR) to induce smooth eye movements in the opposite direction of the head, which relies on activity in the vestibular apparatus in the form of semicircular canals detecting fluid inertia, and the otolith organs relaying gravitational pull on the macula <sup>27</sup>. There is also evidence for somatosensory information contributing to stabilizing eye movements <sup>10</sup>, with corollary discharges differentiating between passive and active self-motion <sup>11</sup>. The relative importance of these influences may differ between species, and in humans the somatosensory influences are somewhat debated, though evidence suggests activation of the neck muscles contribute to visual processing as well as the eye movement

response <sup>28,29</sup>. It has consequently been put forward that proprioceptive signals may aid human gaze-stability <sup>10</sup>, and that corollary discharges allow for the separation and recognition of passive and active visual field movements <sup>11</sup>. In addition, several studies have investigated how stimulation of the neck muscles may produces compensatory eye movements through the colliculo-ocular pathway <sup>28,30,31</sup>. Its actual influence on gaze-stability has however been questioned, as it has only been shown to cause very small and slow compensatory responses, too weak to hold functional utility on its own <sup>30</sup>.

In order to assess the functionality of these gaze-stabilizing eye movements in the roll plane, we may consider some of the mechanisms they aim to fulfil. Proper binocular vision relies on proper gaze-stabilization through distinct eye movements adhering to Donder's law, which states that a specific gaze position will yield an equally specific orientation of the eyes, including a torsional component <sup>32</sup>. Ocular torsion (OT) therefore plays an important role in motor fusion of the eyes. Additionally, OT aids in sensory fusion by increasing the range associated with Panum's area <sup>33</sup>. Panum's area, in turn, is the visual range in which single binocular vision can be maintained, and the torsional disparities between two images will be greater in the peripheral retina compared to the fovea<sup>34</sup>. In the context of gaze-stabilization, OT can be achieved both through the VOR and OKR. From a vestibular perspective, the VOR will produce a torsional eye movement response in the shape of ocular counter-roll (OCR) in response to a head tilt, which is primarily brought on by the vertical semi-circular canals and then maintained by the utricules  $^{35,36}$ . The positional gain of this movement is estimated to be between 10-20%, decreasing as the amplitude of the head roll increases 37. Visually induced ocular torsion (VOT) has a much smaller gain of about 1-4%<sup>38</sup>. It is also known that visual content can increase the gain of an OCR, indicating visual contribution to the VOR <sup>38</sup>. Torsional gain during combined visuovestibular stimulations may consequently yield an indication of how the two senses are weighed in terms of their stabilizing influence, and their relative importance could be quantified based on their proportional contribution towards the integrated response. While this thesis aims to explore this relationship, subsequent studies establishing control values across a large population could be useful for establishing clinical benchmarks, as the visual-vestibular ratio may give an indication of what system is afflicted in patients with sensory deficits.

It has long been known that a torsional eye movement is accompanied by a vertical vergence (VV) of the eyes, i.e. skewing <sup>21</sup>. These vertical and torqueing eye movements are intrinsically interconnected according to Donder's law <sup>32</sup>. This relationship could possibly be explained by mechanical constraints of the orbita <sup>39</sup>, but it has been put forward that the

specific ratio between torsion and vergence may be neurologically driven, as the orbital dynamics cannot fully account for the specificity with which the eyes are positioned <sup>32</sup>. Vertical vergence is generally considered a vestibular brainstem response and a physiological component of the VOR; it is part of the ocular tilt reaction, where the utricles signal for the eyes to divergence along the vertical visual axis <sup>40</sup>. More specifically, a head roll will cause the contralateral eye to move downward in relation to its ipsilateral counterpart, which instead moves upward <sup>41,42</sup>. Much like its torsional counterpart, vertical vergence aims to increase the fusional range <sup>23</sup>.

It has been known for some time that vertical vergence can be seen during rotational optokinetic stimulation, but it has been considered as purely secondary to the torsional response according to the principles described above <sup>32</sup>. Nevertheless, the full extent of this relationship remains poorly investigated. Studies have indicated that vertical divergence, in the form of skew deviation, can be caused by visual aberrations. These include visual disparities<sup>21</sup>, and the notable observation that amblyopic children may grow up to express a constant vertical misalignment of the eyes <sup>43</sup>. A hypothesis aiming to explain this pathology suggests that amblyopia may cause a vestigial dorsal light reflex (DLR) to manifest. This is supported by the finding that children with this condition also experience a slight tilt to the visual scene, as indicated by testing their subjective visual vertical <sup>44</sup>. The DLR will be covered in more detail in the next segment, as it is most prominent in phylogenetically older vertebrates, but it serves as a light-guided reorientation mechanism and as such involves visual activation of the vestibular system <sup>45</sup>. This invites the question if vertical vergence, much like torsion, could be considered an eye movement response common for both the VOR and OKR; if so, it may prove valuable in evaluating multisensory control of gaze-stabilization in patients.

#### 1.2.2 Vestibular activation and the vestibule-ocular reflex

This segment will briefly outline the main principles giving rise to a torsional gazestabilization from vestibular and visual stimulations. As the vestibular nuclei are comprised of four sub-nuclei, activation of the VOR will also be accompanied with a set of reflexive responses related to postural control. In order to understand the clinical utility in using gazestabilization, this segment will therefore offer an overview of the vestibular nucleus and its functions.

#### 1.2.2.1 Vestibular registration

The vestibular apparatus consists of two distinct organs, the semicircular canals (SCC) and the otoliths <sup>46</sup>. The former detect angular acceleration through movement of endolymph, a potassium rich fluid, in the superior, horizontal and posterior canal, which are named for their position in the vestibular complex. As illustrated in figure 1, each canal opens into an ampulla, which houses the gelatinous cupula. When the canal moves with the head, the cupula is pushed into the endolymph with a force proportional to the fluid's inertia. As the cupula bends, stereocilia bend with it, giving rise to an electric signal that can be conveyed through the vestibular nerve; during constant velocity, the inertia is maintained for about 10 seconds before the endolymph reaches equilibrium, after which the convection of movement stops <sup>47</sup>. Depending on the flexion of the cupula, the hair cells will be hyperpolarized or depolarized, allowing directional information.

The otoliths, in addition to supporting the registration of angular acceleration, specialise in detecting static changes of head position <sup>48</sup>. These organs are composed of the saccule and utricle, responding to vertical and horizontal stimulations respectively due to the orientation of their hair cells. A gelatinous layer embedded with tiny crystals, otoconia, blanket these hair cells. As gravity causes the crystals to shift during head movements they pull on stereocilia in either direction, causing hyper- or depolarization according to the same principles as seen in the semicircular canals<sup>49</sup>. While the initial response will aid in detecting dynamic angular displacement (r-VOR), the hair cells will continue to signal the static position of the vestibular apparatus (t-VOR), as the otoconia continue to tug on the otolithic membrane covering the gelatinous layer <sup>50</sup>.

Altogether, the semicircular canals and the otolith organs provide constant feedback on head position and acceleration through the vestibular nerve. Due to the polarizing-depolarizing nature of the stereocilia, this system works according to a push-pull mechanism; as one side hyperpolarizes the other side will depolarize, shifting the equilibrium.



The semicircular canals detect angular acceleration when the internal fluids push against the cupula
The otoliths of the utricle and saccule signal head displacements when the otoconia crystals drag on hair cells

**Figure 1.** The peripheral vestibular system. The schematic illustrates how the vestibular apparatus and its components, the semicircular canals and the otolith organs, behave during a head movement as they translate inertia into neural signals. 1) The semicircular canals detect angular acceleration when the internal fluid pushes against the cupula which in turn produce movements of hair cells. 2) The otolith organs, the utricle and the saccule, signal head displacements when the otoconia crystals drag on the embedded hair cells. Resulting electrical impulses are relayed through the vestibulocochlear nerve to the vestibular nuclei. Created with BioRender.com.

#### 1.2.2.2 Activating the brainstem

The resulting signal conveyed through the vestibular nerve terminates in the vestibular nucleus (VN) of the brainstem <sup>51</sup>. The distribution of these projections is presented in figure 2, and it is reported that the superior vestibular nucleus (SVN) is targeted by semicircular afferents, whereas the lateral vestibular nucleus (LVN) is innervated by otolith input <sup>52</sup>. The

remaining inferior and medial nuclei (IVN; MVN) receive afferents by both peripheral structures.

VN efferents will subsequently project to a number of structures involved in the reflexive response to movement. The LVN will activate the vestibulospinal tract, causing reflexive recruitment of muscles that may prevent a fall if the vestibular activity was not triggered by a self-generated movement <sup>52</sup>. In contrast, if the vestibular activity was part of a planned head movement, the cerebellum will attenuate this response through interactions with the vestibular nucleus, ensuring that we are in control of our own locomotion <sup>53</sup>. The MVN will also issue signals leading to stabilizing head movements by recruiting neck muscles <sup>51</sup>.

The MVN and SVN act as the main initiators of the VOR <sup>54</sup>. This is achieved primarily through excitatory projections to the contralateral abducens nucleus (N.VI), which in turn activates its contralateral oculomotor nucleus (N.III) and ensures that both eyes move in the same direction during a translational head movement <sup>55</sup>. The MVN will also excite or inhibit activity in the contralateral N.III and trochlear nucleus (N.IV) <sup>51</sup>, whereas the SVN projects to the ipsilateral N.III and N.IV through the medial longitudinal fasciculus <sup>56</sup>.

A vestibular signal may consequently produce a cascade of reflexive responses related to selfmovement. Considering the range of functions of the VN, one may claim that the VOR reflects neuronal activity representing how the brain integrates motion, and postulate that the ocular movement may be correlated to reflexive postural commands. As will be outlined later (See Optokinetic reflex), the visual system also recruits the VN in its producing the OKR. A gaze-stabilizing response may therefore serves as a valuable proxy for assessing both peripheral and central systems of movement-integration. For example, this is routinely done through the head impulse test, where an examiner evaluates the inner ear through quickly moving the patient's head, or identifying vertical or rotational nystagmus beats as having central aetiologies <sup>57</sup>.



**Figure 2.** The central vestibular system. Peripheral vestibular information reaches the four sub-nuclei of the central vestibular complex of the brainstem. The basic and reflexive oculomotor and postural responses are outlined in the schematic, with no chronological order. Created with BioRender.com.

#### 1.2.2.3 Recruiting the eyes

Motor neurons originating in N.III, N.IV and N.VI innervate the extra-ocular muscles (EOM) responsible for rotating the eyes. This complete network is illustrated in figure 3. The following segment will briefly outline the route through which torsion is achieved.

Torsional VOR, the OCR, involves rotating the eye around its visual axis without causing any horizontal or vertical movements. The following example accompanies a head tilt to the right <sup>58</sup>. From the perspective of the semicircular canals, the anterior SCC produces an excitatory signal that activates the ipsilateral superior rectus muscle and the contralateral inferior oblique. The posterior SCC will instead recruit the ipsilateral superior oblique and contralateral inferior rectus. Hering's law of equal innervation allows for this conjugation, controlling for the fact that an eye movement in one direction will be innervated by the antagonistic EOM of the contralateral eye <sup>59</sup>. For the same reason, the left anterior SCC

inhibits the contralateral inferior rectus and the ipsilateral superior oblique, while the posterior SCC inhibits the contralateral inferior oblique and the ipsilateral superior rectus.

As the EOM are always innervated by their respective cranial nerves, this step holds true for any torsional eye movement, whether it is vestibular or optokinetic in origin. As ocular torsion lacks any meaningful somatic voluntary innervation it may serve as an objective indicator of the visual, vestibular, and visuovestibular contributions to gaze-stabilization.



**Figure 3.** Neural activation of the extraocular muscles in humans. The schematic illustrates how the eyes move during a head roll. The red lines illustrate neural innervation between the structures, illustrated as grey ellipses. Input originates in the respective vestibular organs and move upwards in the figure. The lamprey schematic features an adult lamprey with the frontal section of the eye-brain-labyrinth preparation to its right.

#### 1.2.3 The optokinetic reflex

Whereas the VOR is purposed to compensate for a head movement, the OKR evolved to implement direct visual feedback in its task to stabilize gaze. Being phylogenetically younger

than the VOR but having evolved in parallel, this fundamental sensorimotor integration involves neural structures unique to visual feedback incorporated in the vestibular pathway<sup>8</sup>.

#### 1.2.3.1 The neural pathway of the OKR

As an object moves across the retina, the photoreceptors translate incoming light into electrical impulses through the optic nerve in order to giving rise to a signal that carries both spatial and temporal information <sup>60</sup>. The neural network allowing optokinetic data to be translated into an OKR is less direct than its vestibular counterpart. Almost all nodes in this system receive afferents from a number of cortical and subcortical structures whose importance is difficult to deduce in the highly evolved vertebrate brain <sup>61</sup>; as outlined in the next chapter, we aim to map the fundamentals of the OKR using a more primitive neural model. Nevertheless, figure 4 illustrates an overview of the OKR pathway.

After light has been registered by the eye, a retinal signal from the nasal quadrants will be relayed through the optic nerve and cross to the other cerebral hemisphere at the level of the optic chiasm, while the temporal input remains on the ipsilateral side <sup>62</sup>. After the chiasma the information is carried through the optic tract <sup>62</sup>. This tract projects to pretectum which influences a number of visually guided reflexes, including the OKR; other examples include smooth-tracking, conveying the accommodation and pupillary reflexes, as well as supporting a circadian rhythm <sup>63,64</sup>. There are a number of pretectal outputs that could influence an eye movement response <sup>63</sup>. In the context of the OKR, direct projections to N.III and MVN are of particular note; the former controls eye movement responses directly and the latter is involved in the VOR and other vestibular responses as outlined above. Pretectum also projects to the superior colliculus (SC), which holds a key function in visually guided behaviours and eye movement control <sup>65</sup>. Projections via the accessory optic system (AOS) of the pretectal area also influence the OKR and it synergy with the vestibular system <sup>66</sup>.

In addition to activating pretectum, the optic tract also provides input to the superior colliculus, whose function is mentioned above. The tract terminates in the lateral geniculate nucleus (LGN) of the thalamus. From here, fibres reach several cortical areas where visual motion and content can be interpreted and perceived before modulating the subcortical network <sup>67,68</sup>. One such example of feedback is the cortical projections to pretectum that modify its afferent signalling <sup>69</sup>. Significant cortical input to the superior colliculus also allows for voluntary motor commands, such as gaze-shifts.

Dissecting the network described above gives rise to a few clear, direct contributors towards the OKR, notably pretectal projections to N.III and MVN. Naturally, this invites the question

on why only the N.III receives direct innervation, as compared to the N.IV and N.VI. Lacking any such direct projections, a fulminant OKR would have to occur through crosstalk between the EOM nuclei, or by making use of the VOR network through the MVN. Studies have for example shown that pretectum, through the AOS, is capable of producing an optokinetic response through the velocity storage mechanism (VSM), which integrates motion information through vestibular-cerebellar interactions in the brainstem <sup>70</sup>; this mechanism will be further addressed in the next chapter.

One may infer some information regarding the OKR pathway by juxtapositioning its temporal properties with that of the VOR. For comparison, the VOR has a latency of 8.6 milliseconds (ms) <sup>71</sup>, while an OKN is initiated after 70-75 ms <sup>72</sup>. Naturally, the vestibular system can be expected to exhibit a greater sensitivity to motion due to its mechanical and direct translation of inertia. This cannot be explained solely by different response rates of the peripheral organs however. A study comparing the latency of pretectal activity and the OKR in monkeys showed that the earliest pretectal activity occurred 20 ms before the eye movement, with the average pretectal neuron exhibiting a lead time of 7.5 ms <sup>73</sup>. Considering the substantially longer onset of the OKN, one may suggest that its fundamental operation is maintained through a more complex network of nodes than the VOR.



**Figure 4.** The basic neural pathway for the optokinetic reflex. The schematic presents the hierarchy of the neural pathways involved in producing an optokinetic oculomotor response. Visual motion is registered by the eye (right), and then relayed to cortical and subcortical structures that produce and adapt the reflexive oculomotor output. Created with BioRender.com.

#### 1.2.4 From lamprey to man

Despite the clear differences between primates and cyclostomes the basic principles governing eye movement control appear remarkably similar (see figure 5)<sup>74</sup>. Nevertheless, there are undoubtedly vast differences in habitat and behavioural complexity between our species that put different demands on the eyes and their motility. Therefore, it may be advantageous to touch on the comparative nature of gaze-stability between lamprey and man before going into the details of how vestibular and visual information is translated into reflexive gaze realignments.

Inferring the neural pathways responsible for maintaining the VOR and OKR in humans, and how they relate to pharmacodynamics and various pathologies, is far from straight-forward. The primate visual neural network is complex and its hierarchical processing involves several feedback-loops dispersed throughout the system <sup>61</sup>. For example, the previous segment outlined how the pretectal signal may be integrated through a process involving the cerebellum, though other candidates exist, such as the medial vestibular nucleus or gaze centres <sup>75</sup>. One may keep this in mind when trying to bridge the gaps between brainstem functions and bedside evaluations. In order to address the core principles governing gaze-stabilization, this thesis implements the lamprey animal model, which thanks to their conserved neural mechanisms have been referred to as a "blueprint of the mammalian nervous system" <sup>76</sup>.

The VOR likely emerged as the first form of reflexive gaze-stabilization, having evolved in early vertebrates and remaining highly conserved <sup>74</sup>. The lamprey, a jawless vertebrate which diverged from the vertebrate evolutionary line 560 million years ago, features a nervous system which in many ways is representative of that seen in mammals <sup>76</sup>. As the lamprey is considered one of the first animals to possess the VOR, the animal model may provide us with valuable insights into the origins and organization of the multisensory control of gaze-stabilization <sup>74</sup>. The comparison can be further justified by their possessing well-developed image-forming eyes and a layered retina similar to mammals <sup>77,78</sup>. Importantly, the extraocular muscles are organized through the same brainstem nuclei as in mammals, with only some minor deviations due to the varying homology of the eye muscles <sup>79</sup>. Regarding the VOR, the reflex is caused by an activation of the animal's vestibular area as detected by the labyrinth, and relayed to the extraocular muscles in a similar fashion to that of other vertebrates <sup>1,80</sup>.
In contrast, it is unclear whether lamprey possess an OKR. Its visual system is, as previously noted, well-developed, and its optic tectum corresponds to the mammalian superior colliculus in its function of dictating gaze shifts based on multisensory input <sup>81</sup>. Much like its human homologue, the optic tectum is layered, and its superficial segment receives visual information from the retina according to a retinotopic map <sup>78</sup>. A corresponding motor map is maintained in deep layer neurons, whose dendrites extend into the superficial layer in order to receive retinal input, and which projects to brainstem regions according to a motor map, correlating eye movements with those of the head and body <sup>82,83</sup>. This network, crucial for body posture, has been well-researched and its neural mechanisms mapped <sup>84</sup>.

Altogether, the lamprey animal model lends itself well for studying the neural mechanisms underlying gaze stabilization, as well as its evolutionary origins. The lamprey possesses a small region in its lateral pallium, corresponding to the mammalian cortex, which deals with visual input relayed through the thalamus<sup>85</sup>. In addition, there is a palliopretectal fibre bundle connecting pretectum and the lamprey visual cortex <sup>85</sup>. In this regard, the lamprey is in possession of pathways supporting both cortical and subcortical control of the VOR and OKR. Recording lamprey eye movement responses to optokinetic stimuli would shed further light on the nature of its OKR, and should it exist the well-conserved neural pathways would allow for in-depth studies of the underlying mechanisms. Considering the reflexive nature of the eye movement responses one could expect these pathways to be highly similar to the human network. One matter of particular interest when addressing gaze-stabilization is that of visuovestibular integration, i.e OKR-VOR interaction. According to the network driving the VOR and OKR in mammals, the two mechanisms come together at the level of the vestibular nuclei<sup>86</sup>. Consequently, several interesting candidates for studying the neural mechanisms underlying mammalian gaze-stabilization can be found in the lamprey brain. In humans, particular importance has been placed on the cerebellum for combining visual and vestibular data, with reference to the projections travelling through the inferior olive and cerebellum before reaching the vestibular nuclei <sup>69</sup>. However, experiments in rats have indicated pretectum to be the initial relay point for the OKR, and that the gaze-stabilizing response may be retained even after a cerebellectomy<sup>87</sup>. The layout of the lamprey brain lends itself well to investigating the OKR's point of convergence with the VOR through electrophysiological recordings. One should note that while the lamprey possesses what is referred to as a cerebellar plate, its functionality is somewhat unclear, and has been likened to that of a commissural area<sup>80</sup>. In this way, should the lamprey exhibit an OKR, the absence of a functional cerebellum would provide valuable context for its importance in producing gazestability.

19



**Figure 5.** Neural activation of the extraocular muscles in lamprey. The schematic illustrates how the eyes move during a head roll in an adult lamprey with the frontal section of the eyebrain-labyrinth preparation to its right. The red lines illustrate neural innervation between the structures, illustrated as grey ellipses. Input originates in the respective vestibular organs and move upwards in the figure.

#### **1.3 READING THE BRAIN THROUGH EYE MOVEMENTS**

Eye movement analysis offers insights into a range of neural processes. As outlined above, the recruitment of the EOM involves several regions of the brain; the activity produced in these regions is often not limited in their function of gaze-stabilization, as illustrated by the VN <sup>46</sup>. In order to maintain proper gaze-stability, visual and vestibular information need to coalesce, and possibly receive modulation by somatosensory contributors as well. Another, mostly reflexive, biological response that rely on these three senses is balance control <sup>88</sup>. In order to function properly, both gaze-stability and balance share a need to quickly decipher movements and produce appropriate and reliable responses. With this in mind, it is unsurprising that several structures in the vertebrate brain play a part in both vision and balance <sup>89,90</sup>. Below will follow a brief contextualization of the pathways relevant for postural control, and how they may be related to gaze-stability.

#### 1.3.1 Reflexive postural control

Vision is key for maintaining balance. This can easily be illustrated by attempting to stand on one leg with eyes opened, and then repeating the same endeavour with eyes closed. Through providing proximal cues, we continuously rely on our eyes to guide our perception of upright. Many people complain of vertigo in scenarios where distinguishable visual features are absent, such as looking down from a tall building; in reality, such symptoms rarely constitute true vertigo, though this will be discussed in a later chapter <sup>91</sup>.

In order to maintain balance, humans rely on sensory feedback from three sensory systems: Vision, vestibular input, and somatosensation <sup>88</sup>. Input from the respective sensory organs are integrated across multiple neural structures as outlined below. Many studies have focused on cortex while, much like the integrative aspects of gaze-stabilization, the subcortical mechanisms remain comparatively poorly understood. Through the use of fMRI there has emerged a set of areas thought to be key for balance control. These involve the human middle temporal complex (hMT+), which is sensitivity to motion <sup>92-95</sup>, and the parieto-insular vestibular cortex (PIVC), which is believed to integrate the three sensory modalities <sup>96-98</sup>. After the cortical processing, the resulting activity can then be further processed in the cerebellum and vestibular nuclei, where the appropriate postural adjustments may be carried out <sup>11,99-102</sup>.

In order to sustain proper postural control, visual, vestibular and somatosensory data are required to convey the same level of information<sup>88</sup>; if we walk forward, optic flow will move visual elements further into the periphery, the semicircular canals will detect the angular acceleration of the head moving with each step, and receptors in the legs, knees and feet will confirm that each step is carried out and that the feet have landed safely on the ground. It is when these systems differ in their input that motion-sickness or vertigo may arise<sup>88</sup>. This mismatch-model system will be further contextualized later in this thesis (The clinical use of gaze-stabilization, motion-sickness intervention). Out of these sensory modalities, one could argue that vision may be the most prone to manipulation. Notably, this occurs when afferent visual data processed through the cortical network cause vection, a faulty sensation of selfmotion <sup>103</sup>. While this sensation certainly influences our postural strategies, studies have shown that vection alone cannot account for the postural shifts seen during visual motion, and that a shorter-latency system leading to reflexive balance responses must exist; it has consequently been put forward that this visual modulation of postural equilibrium works in tandem with an extraocular mechanism <sup>104</sup>. An activation of the EOM, through efference copies or re-afferents, would in such a scenario also activate subcortical commands relating

to posture <sup>104</sup>. This hypothesis would offer an explanation for the shorter latency responses, though by suggesting that eye movements themselves give rise to postural shifts it may invite the question of how such strategies were carried out prior to the evolution of mobile eyes.

Considering the network employed in gaze-stabilization, one may expect that the same signal giving rise to an eye movement could contribute toward a reflexive adjustment of posture. Direct projections from pretectum to the MVN would arguably allow for such a pathway, and offer shorter latencies than an extraocular mechanism. Additionally, tectum, corresponding to the superior-colliculus in mammals, is known to play a key role in visually guided behaviours influencing locomotion and postural shifts <sup>83</sup>. As both the optic tract and pretectum project to the superior colliculus, one could expect that such a relationship is likely present in mammals as well, though more heavily modulated by cortical processes.

Gaze-stabilization reflects fundamental principles relating to motion and multisensory integration, and may consequently serve as a prime candidate for offering further insights into how postural control is maintained. As torsional eye movements lack any meaningful voluntary control, compared to horizontal and vertical directions, this thesis aim to study how the roll-plane OKR may be correlated with reflexive responses related to postural control.

#### 1.3.2 Stress responses and the autonomic nervous system

Regulatory mechanisms in our body are maintained through the autonomic nervous system (ANS) <sup>105</sup>. This in turn consists of the parasympathetic nervous system (PNS) and the sympathetic nervous system (SNS) <sup>105</sup>. When we find ourselves at rest during unthreatened conditions, the PNS acts as the primary influencer on bodily functions <sup>105</sup>. In stressful situations, such as those seen when our balance is threatened, will instead cause a surge in activity of the SNS, readying the body for immediate action <sup>105</sup>.

In psychometric testing, researchers often implement a range of measurements to quantify a stress response, such as skin conductance due to increased sweating, stress hormones in the saliva, pulse rate and pupil-size <sup>106</sup>. In the context of gaze-stability, the latter offers a convenient approach to inferring the effects of visual motion on eye-movements, as many video eye-trackers allow for pupil detection and measuring. When the SNS signals the onset of a fight-or-flight response, the pupil size increases <sup>105</sup>. As the response has a comparatively short latency of approximately 0.25 seconds (s) <sup>107</sup>, it is also suitable for detecting both acute and dynamic stress responses <sup>108</sup>, such as those that may be expected during postural instability. Pupillometry consequently offers insight into a person's level of alertness and stress.

In nominal conditions, the pupil diameter shifts in response to light and is under the jurisdiction of the PNS; poor lighting conditions cause a relaxation of the iris sphincter, whereas a well-lit scene causes the inverse, aiming to adjust the amount of light entering the eye <sup>105</sup>. The mechanism responsible for this response is mediated through the pretectum, which projects to the Edinger-Westphal nucleus, leading to activation of the ciliary ganglion that ultimately recruits the intraocular muscles <sup>109</sup>. The dilatation seen to matters involving stressful or cognitively challenging scenarios can instead be linked to activity in the locus coeruleus (LC), with later responses seen in the superior and inferior colliculus, as well as in the cingulate cortex dealing with emotional responses <sup>110</sup>. The LC conveys physiological reactions to stress at the level of the brainstem, and has been shown to express causal inference of stress-induced pupil diameter <sup>111</sup>.

This invites the question on how the LC is associated with gaze-control. Noradrenaline acts as the primary neurotransmitter involved in the LC, and a recent study in humans has noted that an increase in noradrenaline will result in increased consistency of visually evoked potentials in the visual cortex <sup>112</sup>. Activity in the visual cortex naturally imposes modulatory influences on gaze-stability; visual attention has for example been shown to upregulate both OKR and VOR <sup>113,114</sup> and acute stress has been shown to enhance motion-perception <sup>115</sup>. Considering the location of the LC in the brainstem and its relationship with the SC, subcortical processes may be expected to modify these eye movement response as well.

Pupillometry consequently reflects activity across the neural visual network, and pupil reactions may serve as an indication for how the brain reacts to visual motion. Correlating such responses to that of body-sway may offer further insights into the interconnectivity between visual motion, alertness, and postural control. In order to further the use of gaze-stabilization in clinical testing, this thesis aims to present new insights into this relationship.

#### 1.4 THE CLINICAL USE OF GAZE-STABILIZATION

The ultimate aim of this thesis is to investigate ways through which roll-plane eye-movement responses may contribute to the understanding of gaze-control, which may by extension aid in patient care. As it stands, gaze-stabilization is a key component in a neurological assessment, and a skilled practitioner can infer precise topographical details through a few procedures. This chapter will outline a few general principles pertaining to this type of testing.

#### 1.4.1 Peripheral findings

The peripheral sensory systems that may be clinically tested using the OKR and VOR are the eyes and the inner ear. However, OKR testing generally involves a suspicion of a defunct central pathway; it is certainly possible that damaged EOM may inhibit the OKR, but simpler oculomotor protocols testing smooth-tracking may be better suited for such suspicions <sup>116</sup>. The VOR by contrast offers significant clinical use when assessing its peripheral system.

Most notably, VOR tests are performed on patients with vertigo or balance disorders <sup>57</sup>. Emergency room clinicians are generally reliant on their own subjective interpretation of the patient's response, possibly with the aid of Frenzel-goggles that distort the patient's vision while allowing the tester clear line-of-sight of the eyes <sup>57</sup>. A typical procedure involves rapidly moving the subjects head and checking if the eyes remain fixed in space, as ordained through the VOR <sup>57</sup>. Absence of a reflexive response, altered latencies, or hyperactive nystagmus activity can reveal a great deal of information regarding the structural integrity of the vestibular apparatus <sup>57</sup>.

Most advanced vertigo and balance centres are equipped with eye-tracking systems in the form of video oculography <sup>117</sup>. The most common implementation of this technology is through the video head impulse test (vHIT), which allows for bedside vestibular testing of the semi-circular canals <sup>118</sup>. Head impulse tests (HIT) or vHIT have been shown comparable to MRI or PET in discerning between dangerous and harmless causes for vertigo, i.e peripheral damages to the vestibular system or central causes such as stroke or cerebral haemorrhaging <sup>119</sup>. Many tertiary vertigo centres are also equipped with software that allows for immediate and objective evaluations of the recorded eye movements. In this regard there is a wide platform available for implementing novel forms of eye movement analyses, and as eye tracking software is becoming more available the user base is likely to expand.

While this thesis does not aim to separate the central and peripheral systems' sensory contributions towards a gaze-stabilizing response, it is important to recognize the conditions in which similar methodologies to those implemented in this thesis are used. As the ultimate goal of this work is to contribute towards patient care, clinical availability of the methodologies involved should be taken into consideration. All findings presented in this thesis reflect the central integration of visual and vestibular data towards gaze-stability. Thanks to the widespread use of eye-tracking in healthcare, they may emerge in evaluations of the peripheral systems, according to the principles outlined above. The clinical framework for eye-movement analysis is consequently quite well-developed. New findings may benefit from this, as many protocols could be adopted using the equipment already in use.

#### 1.4.2 Central findings

Altered states of gaze-stability can reveal a range of central disorders <sup>57</sup>. Nystagmus is a physiological feature of both OKR and VOR, but many injuries to the brainstem can cause pathological nystagmus beats, either during gaze-shifts or at rest; the direction of these ballistic eye movements may indicate the localization of an injury <sup>57</sup>. Similarly, skew deviation is an eye movement response associated with lesions at the vestibular level in the brainstem, causing a vertical divergence of the eyes similar to that seen during a head rotation <sup>120</sup>. The dynamic integration of multisensory signals are equally prone to modification through structural damages or drugs <sup>121,122</sup>.

#### 1.4.2.1 Non-vestibular vertigo

Structural damages may manifest in impaired VOR or OKR, caused by lesions of the brainstem, cerebellum and a number of cortical areas <sup>123-126</sup>. As introduced in the previous chapter, this thesis will focus on postural control, and how gaze-stabilization may reflect central causes of non-vestibular vertigo. Vertigo encompasses all conditions in which a person experiences a false sensation of movement, either self-generated or external. There are many causes for such sensations, and as vertigo constitutes a symptom rather than a clear pathology it may be difficult to diagnose and treat <sup>127,128</sup>. Considering that approximately half of all vertiginous patients exhibit no clear peripheral pathologies <sup>128</sup>, identifying additional biomarkers and treatment interventions for central causes are much needed. At this stage, it may be important to address that many patients refer to their symptoms as vertigo, when they in fact experiences dizziness, unsteadiness, or a general discomfort to motion. While vertigo is an active sensation of motion, dizziness encompasses all feelings of general imbalance <sup>127</sup>. For example, the vertigo experienced when looking down a tall building caused by a lack of proximal cues rarely constitutes real vertigo, but rather an uneasy feeling of balance discomfort that could better be described as dizziness. This distinction is important for diagnostic purposes, but may be confusing to a patient for whom the terms may appear interchangeable. Non-vestibular vertigo, consequently, often covers a mix of various symptoms related to either set of symptoms. Many patients experience this motion discomfort from visual movements, giving rise to the term visual vertigo, or visual motion hypersensitivity (VMH); as symptoms are often aggravated in visually cluttered surroundings, it is sometimes called super-market syndrome <sup>129</sup>. VMH can originate from a range of disorders, including migraines, Parkinson's disease, traumatic brain injuries and vestibular disorders <sup>130-133</sup>. Symptoms are often aggravated by non-organic aetiologies or stem from psychiatric conditions <sup>134,135</sup>. It may therefore appear likely that VMH symptoms

could arise from a variety of damages to the central integration involving visual motion. Considering the integrative network merging visual and vestibular data, gaze-stabilization offer promising biomarkers for these conditions, allowing objective and quantifiable values that may be used for identifying the extent of an injury and allow for personalized follow-up protocols. For example, studies have shown VMH patients to express aberrant OKR <sup>136,137</sup>. As vertigo and dizziness constitute disproportionate costs for society, both economic and in terms of quality of life <sup>138</sup>, developing gaze-stability analyses for the clinical care of such patients would be of significant importance to the health-care system. By furthering our knowledge of visuovestibular integration in gaze-stability, this thesis aims to identify new approaches through which non-vestibular vertigo may be studied.

#### 1.4.2.2 Motion-sickness intervention

As previously outlined, gaze-stabilization and postural control share several common denominators, such as responding to motion and relying on seamless multisensory integration. Most people have experienced motion-sickness, and while often nothing more than a discomfort, it can lead to debilitating conditions requiring medical intervention or even hospitalisation <sup>139</sup>. Car sickness is an example that may be useful in illustrating this common phenomenon <sup>88</sup>: while the person is seated in a moving car, the vestibular system is at an equilibrium as the head is moving at a constant velocity, somatosensory input corroborates this feeling of being stationary, but visual input will continuously relay a message of intense movement beyond the physiological confines of our evolutionary origins. The resulting sensory discrepancy is what gives rise to nausea and motion-sickness, signalling that something is wrong with our perception of motion as the brain is not in tune with the body <sup>88</sup>.

Both the OKR and VOR have been used for assessing the effects of anti-emetic drugs targeting motion-sickness <sup>140,141</sup>. The most commonly used forms of motion-sickness medication are antihistamines, the anticholinergic properties of which are believed to work primarily through inhibiting the peripheral vestibular system <sup>142</sup>, possibly exhibiting different levels of efficiency on the SCCs and otoliths <sup>141</sup>. Nevertheless, antihistamines have also been shown to reduce optokinetic nystagmus (OKN) after oral administration, while having no effect on the VOR <sup>140</sup>. It is noteworthy that 1<sup>st</sup> generation antihistamines are the most efficient in targeting motion-sickness. It has been argued that this may be due to them expressing stronger central properties compared to later generations, also causing stronger side effects, most notably sedation <sup>143</sup>. Meclizine, a common anti-emetic, has been ascribed such a central inhibitory effect on the MVN, a hypothesis deduced by observing decreased VOR gain after administration <sup>141</sup>. As the MVN is involved in both postural and gaze-stabilizing responses,

and receives both visual and vestibular afferents, pharmaceutical interventions such as Meclizine could be tested using the visuovestibular testing protocols, which may in turn be evaluated through monitoring gaze-stabilization.

Considering the fact that gaze-stability has yielded promising but somewhat inconclusive results relating to the effects of antihistamines, further studies are warranted to add context on its central effects. As the torsional response has not yet been used in this line of investigation, its response will be presented in this thesis as an example on how torsional gaze-stabilization may be used in clinical research, and by extension improving patient care.

# 2 RESEARCH AIMS

The aims of this thesis can be divided into three separate themes. Their purpose is to further our understanding of gaze-stability both for future clinical utility as well as relating to its basic governing principles. Each article compiled for this thesis will deal with one of these objectives according to their respective subdivisions. Ultimately, their findings will be contextualized and the main conclusions summarised.

## 2.1 THE NEURAL NETWORK

The first part of this thesis is aimed at elucidating the fundamental neural mechanisms allowing gaze-stabilization through visuovestibular integration. This endeavour will employ the lamprey animal model, and as such will also aim to investigate the evolutionary origins of vertebrate eye-movement control.

## 2.2 NEW INSIGHTS INTO THE PHYSIOLOGICAL RESPONSE

The second set of studies aims to present new insights into VOR and OKR integration. This will involve developing a method for quantifying the sensory contribution to gaze-stability in different scenarios, and investigate how the OKR can be correlated to reflexive responses normally associated with a vestibular response.

## 2.3 CLINICAL IMPLEMENTATIONS

The third aim focuses on testing the clinical utility of the eye-movement variables outlined in the pursuit of the aforementioned goals. In this context, the sensory specific effects of Meclizine, a commonly used antihistaminergic anti-emetic drug, will be investigated through analysing changes in gaze-stabilizing responses.

## **3 SUMMARY OF STUDIES**

## 3.1 VISUO-VESTIBULAR GAZE CONTROL – CONSERVED SUBCORTICAL PROCESSING

### 3.1.1 Aim

In order to better understand gaze-stabilization and its implication in humans, we need to unravel the underlying neural mechanisms responsible for producing these reflexive eye movements. This study aimed to comprehensively analyse the neural structures involved in the visuovestibular integration of the OKR and VOR, while also investigated the evolutionary origins of vertebrate eye movements.

#### 3.1.2 Outline

Gaze-stability relies on reflexive and reliable compensatory eye movements in order to prevent image blurring <sup>8</sup>. As denoted in the introduction of this thesis, this is achieved through the VOR and OKR, two systems having evolved in parallel <sup>10</sup>. In our natural world, these two mechanisms continuously need to integrate, combining self-motion with an everchanging visual scene. Despite the primordial origins of these reflexive eye movements, most studies have focused on their cortical and cerebellar mechanisms <sup>144</sup>. While the VOR is phylogenetically well-conserved throughout vertebrate evolution, the earliest example of OKR has currently been shown in bony fish, Osteichtyes <sup>26</sup>. Investigating the presence of an OKR in the oldest extant vertebrate, the lamprey, would consequently add important context for how gaze-stabilization operates on the most fundamental neuronal level. As it is unclear whether the lamprey is in possession of saccadic, quick-phase, eye movements, this study also opened up for establishing whether the template for all eye movement control existed already at the dawn of vertebrate evolution.

Aiming to reliably introduce vestibular, visual, and combined visuovestibular stimulations to an animal model, we designed and constructed a moving platform synchronized with visual stimulations on two screens. Having developed an eye-brain-labyrinth preparation of the lamprey animal model, this system allowed for electrophysiological recordings and pharmacological and mechanical intervention across the entire brain. We subsequently implemented four different stimulation protocols, featuring combinations of low and high velocities and amplitudes while measuring activity in the extra-ocular muscles as well as in the vestibular nuclei.

By performing lesions of key structures we could monitor any changes in the way visual and vestibular data were integrated along this pathway, and through injecting tracers into several

structures sustaining eye movement control we could illustrate the network allowing for these shifts. Responses were correlated to behavioural trials where intact lamprey were rotated in three planes, roll, yaw and pitch, while having their eyes filmed so as to allow for eye tracking and characterisation of the VOR. To provide comparative analysis on the gain between different stimulation velocities, we constructed a platform holding a tube of cold water in which an intact and immobile lamprey could fit comfortably. The VOR was analysed using eye-tracking to a series of 180 degree (deg) rotations in this platform, with special reference to identifying slow- and quick-phases.

As several other vertebrate classes have been shown to exhibit gaze-stabilization through spinal corollary discharges during locomotion, we also constructed a semi-intact lamprey preparation where eye movements could be monitored using video eye tracking during swimming with the head fixed in place. Altogether, this set of trials illustrated the conserved nature of the neural mechanisms allowing gaze-stabilization. We were then able to contextualize these findings in an updated phylogenetic tree of eye movement control.

#### 3.1.3 Results

The behavioural trials employed in this study produced reliable VOR responses in all three planes. The subsequent eye tracking focusing on the yaw planed showed that lamprey exhibit clear nystagmic eye movements throughout a vestibular stimulation, producing intermittent slow- and quick phases in a saw-tooth pattern that is representative of a VOR. This shows that the lamprey, as the phylogenetically oldest vertebrate, is capable of the most basic subset of eye movements from which all others are believed to be descended. In assessing the OKR, eye muscle activity scaled with optokinetic velocities in the roll and pitch planes, but not in yaw.

Having established that lamprey possess both OKR and VOR, their integrative properties were investigated. Muscle activity reflected a visuovestibular integration similar to that seen in humans, with visual and vestibular contributions being equivalent in the low intensity protocol and subsequently shifting in favour of the vestibular input as velocities or amplitudes were increased. From a temporal perspective, the peak amplitude for the visuovestibular response was reached at a point in time between those measured for isolated visual and vestibular trials.

Tracer injections showed pretectal neurons extending dendrites into the optic tract and projecting axons to several regions key for oculomotor control, including the vestibular nucleus and oculomotor nuclei. There were also projections to a cluster within the nucleus of the medial longitudinal fasciculus (nMLF), a region shown to function as a vertical gaze centre in several vertebrate species <sup>145</sup>. Lesioning of pretectum terminated the OKR, showing the structure to be key for integrating optokinetic information. Lesioning of tectum, the agnathan counterpart to the superior colliculus, had no impact on the OKR, though it did cause an upregulation of the integrated visuovestibular response, causing greater contractions and faster onsets of the extraocular muscles. These pretectal and tectal influences on the OKR were also reflected in the neural activity of the VN. Lesioning of the lamprey pallium, hosting the primordial visual cortex, had no discernible effect on the optokinetic responses.

In order to assess the effects of corollary discharges on gaze-stabilization, a semi-intact preparation was made to swim either from mechanical stimulation of the tail or through pharmacological activation of the spinal cord CPGs. The latter did not produce any compensatory eye movements, while mechanically triggering swimming resulted in conjugated eye shifts in the yaw plane synchronous with the tail movements.

Altogether, these experiments allowed us to delineate the integrative neural pathway of visual and vestibular information on its most fundamental level (see figure 6a). These new insights also allowed for creating a phylogenetic tree of eye movements across the vertebrate spectrum (see figure 6b).



**Figure 6.** The gaze-stabilizing neural network of lamprey and the phylogenetic tree of eye movements. A) The fundamental neural pathway relaying visual, vestibular, and visuovestibular information in order to produce a gaze-stabilizing response is outlined in yellow, with the visual contribution towards goal-oriented eye movements featured in pink. Abbreviations: PT, Pretectum; OT, Optic tectum; nMLF, nucleus of the medial longitudinal fasciculus; VA, Vestibular area. B) The phylogenetic tree outlines the presence of well-defined eye movements across the vertebrate groups. While studies have indicated that lamprey, an agnathan, possess goal-orienting ballistic eye movements, the presence of

saccades is yet to be established. Smooth-tracking is highlighted in red due to being largely limited to primates.

## 3.1.4 Discussion

This study established that lamprey possess OKR as well as a VOR featuring nystagmus. Considering the well-preserved nature of vertebrate eye movements <sup>26,74</sup>, this sets the stage for using the lamprey animal model for investigating the neural mechanisms allowing gazestabilization. It has recently been shown that the lamprey possesses a basic visual cortex <sup>146</sup>, which allowed us to investigate the cortical influences on this most fundamental eye movement control. As resection of pallium left the OKR and VOR unaltered, it can be concluded that gaze-stabilization does not rely on cortical input. It is quite possible that their integration is altered by this input however, which future studies may benefit from investigating. Furthermore, the lamprey lacks a functional cerebellum, which allows the conclusion that multisensory control of gaze-stabilization relies solely on subcortical neural processes.

Our study also shows that the first stage integration of optokinetic data into the OKR occurs at the level of the pretectum. This is in line with previous studies on the vertebrate accessory optic system <sup>66</sup>. It is consequently clear that gaze-stabilization has been conserved from the onset of vertebrate evolution, allowing us to produce the neural map and phylogenetic tree of eye movements seen in figure 6b. The fact that tectal inactivation upregulated the integrated visuovestibular response may have implications for how tectum, and subsequently the mammalian superior colliculus, codes for goal-oriented eye movements. This study shows that tectum can downregulate the optokinetic reflex. In the context of the lamprey tectum having been shown to feature a motor map allowing for targeted head-eye movements <sup>82</sup>, this finding likely reflects the tectal-pretectal hierarchy of eye movement control, where tectum imposes inhibitory input to pretectum in favour of goal-oriented gaze-shifts. Elucidating the nature of this interaction hence appears quite interesting for understanding voluntary eye movement control, warranting further studies on the matter.

As gaze-stabilization through corollary discharge during locomotion has been shown in several vertebrate classes <sup>8,15</sup>, we were interesting in investigating whether this feature was descendent from the agnathan lamprey. Our results indicate that swimming, brought on by mechanical stimulation of the tail, was capable of producing conjugated and synchronous eye movements coupled with forward locomotion. The fact that pharmacological activation of the spinal cord did not activate this clear pattern of eye movements would suggest that while this

response may contribute to a gaze-stabilizing response, it may not be sufficient to produce one without vestibular or visual input. The results nevertheless illustrate that locomotion modulates lamprey gaze-stabilization. As for fictive locomotion, work in the chondricthyan dogfish has shown the spinal cord to be essential in locomotive gaze-stabilization <sup>8</sup>. It is noteworthy that we did observe the odd eye movement during fictive swimming, synchronous with particularly strong body movements. It is therefore possible that a strong locomotive motor command may result in a gaze-shifting eye movement. While this question remains open, our results clearly indicate that the lamprey is in possession of the neural template allowing for gaze-stabilization through corollary discharge, though it is insufficient to produce compensatory eye movements on its own accord.

In conclusion, the presence of clearly defined OKR and VOR in the lamprey shows that gazestabilization has been conserved throughout vertebrate evolution, relying on subcortical mechanisms for their integration. As the VOR features both slow- and quick-phases it is clear that the neural template for both smooth and ballistic eye movements existed already at the origin of vertebrate life, offering valuable context for how advanced oculomotor control subsequently emerged. Our results allowed the construction of a neural network showing how visual and vestibular integration leads to gaze-stabilization, and offered new insights into pretectal-tectal interactions for the control of goal-oriented gaze-shifts. Altogether, these findings expand on the fundamentals of vertebrate eye movement control.

## 3.2 VESTIBULAR EYE MOVEMENTS ARE HEAVILY IMPACED BY VISUAL MOTION AND ARE SENSITIVE TO CHANGES IN VISUAL INTENSITIES

## VISUAL AND VESTIBULAR INTEGRATION EXPRESS SUMMATIVE EYE MOVEMENT RESPONSES AND REVEAL HIGHER VISUAL ACCELERATION SENSITIVITY THAN PREVIOUSLY DESCRIBED

## 3.2.1 Aim

By combining visual, vestibular, and visuovestibular stimulations for two levels of visual clutter and movement acceleration, these studies aimed to outline the effects of visual information density (study 2) and acceleration (study 3) on visuovestibular integration.

## 3.2.2 Outline

Visually cluttered surroundings are known to cause distractions and increased levels of stress in the work-place <sup>147,148</sup>. Such responses may be perfectly physiological, but many patients with non-vestibular vertigo express severe symptoms in the presence of visually complex surroundings, showing intense aversion to visual motion <sup>129,149</sup>. Visual clutter has also been attributed in increased fall-risks in the elderly <sup>150</sup>, further inviting the question of how visual information density is integrated in the brain. Considering that content added to a visual scene is known to enhance the OKR in the form of increased OT to visual rotations <sup>38</sup>, a combination of visual (VIS), vestibular (VES) and visuovestibular (VISVES) stimulations could offer a means to quantify the relative importance of the visual and vestibular systems when integrating cluttered motion. This relationship was evaluated in study 2, which saw subjects view two intensity levels of rotating visual clutter. Based on the results, as presented below, study 3 involved assessing the effects of optokinetic and vestibular accelerations on the eye movement responses. It is well-known that optokinetic input shares several subcortical integration points with vestibular afferents, and that the optokinetic velocity is reflected in the neural activation in the vestibular nuclei <sup>151,152</sup>. For this reason, study 3 employed two levels of acceleration rather than clutter, keeping the visual information density level constant between the intensities. While visual clutter levels are more associated with visual processing, acceleration is thought to be of little influence on vision, as compared to the vestibular system which serves to detect motion <sup>153</sup>.

To study the impact of visual clutter and stimulation acceleration on gaze-stabilization, both studies employed a mechanized chair capable of full-body roll-rotations, which were synchronized with a visual scene presented on a projector screen. In this way, it was possible to evaluate the eye movement response to isolated visual and vestibular stimulations, as well as the combined visuovestibular protocol. The visual element in this setup was divided into two intensity levels, featuring low- and high levels of information density (see figure 7). The OKR and VOR responses were tracked in terms of OT and VV using the Chronos Eye-Tracker (C-ETD), and the slow-phase velocities were measured and compared between intensity levels.



**Figure 7.** Low and high visual stimulation intensities. The high intensity (left) contains 38 lines centred on a fixation point angled at 45 degrees, while the low intensity (right) features 19 lines.

## 3.2.3 Results

In study 2, study participants were balanced in terms of sex and age, with age having a significant effect on OT with younger subjects expressing faster slow-phases and a greater increase between VES and VISVES modalities. While visual clutter levels had no effect on neither torsional nor vergence velocities, the ratio between them was significantly altered, favouring torsion over vergence to intensified visual clutter. The eye movement responses are illustrated in figure 8.

In addition, the torsional responses showed robust summative effects when comparing the results between modalities, i.e. the torsional velocity during VIS added to that seen during VES was equal to the VISVES results. This allowed for the quantification of each sense's relative influence on the eye movement response. By dividing the VIS and VES results by that of VISVES, this influence could be retrieved as a percentage. This relationship was not affected by clutter levels.

Study 3 saw no effect of age or sex on the eye movement response. Torsion was significantly altered by acceleration for VES and VISVES modalities, while vergence was affected in all three. The torsion-vergence ratio exhibited a strong trend towards decreasing with increased acceleration intensities, meaning that higher acceleration increased vergence velocities more than that of torsion.

Much like in study 2, torsion exhibited robust summative effects between the three modalities, with the sum of VIS and VES equating the VISVES results. As noted above, acceleration had no impact on torsion for VIS, allowing this comparison despite differences in accelerations between the modalities. Study 3 revealed that the relative importance of vision and vestibular input favoured the vestibular system as the acceleration is increased, through the summative nature of the torsional response was retained.



**Figure 8.** Torsional and vergence eye movement responses to visual (A) and vestibular (B) rotational motion. The visual (VIS) signal has been inverted to facilitate comparisons with the vestibular (VES) responses. Values for the stimulation positions have been divided in half for fitting purposes.

#### 3.2.4 Discussion

This study explored the influences of visual clutter on the integration of the VOR and OKR, finding a significant effect on the relationship between torsional and vergence eye movements. Older individuals are known to be more readily influenced by visual motion in their postural control <sup>154</sup>. As indicated by the eye movement responses, this is also reflected in the VOT, with the younger subjects expressing more adaptive responses between VES and VISVES trials.

It is well established that torsion and vergence are intrinsically linked <sup>155</sup>. This relationship has generally been attributed to their orbital mechanics and joint neurophysiological innervations <sup>23,156</sup>. We show here that a rotating optokinetic stimulation will produce a vertical vergence of the eyes, and that torsion and vergence respond differently to low and high levels of visual clutter. Considering that this cannot be explained by the physical constraints of the orbita, it appears likely that the two eye movements are modified through different neural pathways. While neither eye movement was significantly affected by clutter levels, the ratio favoured that of torsion when the information density was intensified, increasing in relation to vergence. The lack of significance within each eye movement may be due to the short duration of the protocol. In contrast, acceleration exhibited a greater impact on vertical vergence, even affecting the VIS response. This finding was somewhat unexpected considering the previously mentioned notion that the visual system is relatively

unaffected by accelerations. Such a result further highlights the likelihood of torsion and vergence relying on separate neural pathways. Furthermore, as vergence is generally considered a brainstem reflex of a vestibular nature, and that the present study shows it to be sensitive to acceleration over visual information density, one may hypothesise that vergence reflects a visual activation of the vestibular nuclei. Naturally, such a relationship demands further investigation.

The torsional responses showed robust summative effects between modalities for both visual clutter and acceleration levels, allowing for analysing the relative influence of visual and vestibular input to the integrative VOR-OKR response. Unsurprisingly, the vestibular response proved more prominent, guiding ca. 75% of the total reflex as compared to vision's 20% in study 2. Acceleration had a greater impact on the nature of this contribution, lowering vision's portion from ca. 30% during the low intensity to 20% during the high. As these studies did not implement any proprioceptive component, it may be worth reflecting on the possible influences of the cervico-ocular reflex (COR); evidence points towards passive movements of the neck muscles being able to influence gaze-stabilization <sup>28</sup>. Subjects in this study wore an extraction collar to alleviate any effects of the COR, but considering the robust nature of the VOR and OKR that allows for this quantification of multisensory influences, it may be of interest to address proprioception in future studies. Nevertheless, these values provide new insights into the integrative properties of gaze stabilization to varying visual and vestibular conditions. It appears likely that patients suffering from varying degrees of sensory deficits may benefit from being evaluated according to the same principles, allowing for a concrete value which can be used to assess their multisensory integration and consequently follow over time to provide personalized rehabilitation and care.

To conclude, this study is the first to show that visually induced torsion and vergence may express different patterns to rotating visual motion. Such a relationship may indicate separate neural pathways modulating the two eye movement responses; as the visual clutter level increased, the torsion-vergence ratio also increased, while a reverse trend was seen during increased accelerations. Additionally, the torsion response reflected a more dynamic response pattern in young adults compared to older subjects, showing the former to possess greater integrative properties in merging VOR and OKR. Finally, the robust summative nature of the VOT between modalities allowed a quantifiable description of how vision and vestibular information are prioritized in gaze-stabilization under different conditions.

### 3.3 INTENSIFIED VISUAL CLUTTER INDUCES INCREASED SYMPATHETIC SIGNALLING, POORER POSTURAL CONTROL, AND FASTER TORSIONAL EYE MOVEMENTS DURING VISUAL ROTATION

#### 3.3.1 Aim

This study aimed to investigate how visual clutter influences traditional postural responses through analysing and correlating the OKR with changes in stress- and body-sway measurements.

## 3.3.2 Outline

In study 2 we showed how visual clutter influences the torsion-vergence ratio during optokinetic rotations, favouring a relative increase in torsion as the visual information was enhanced. The stimulation implemented in the aforementioned study was relatively short, which may have contributed to neither torsion nor vergence being significantly altered independently. For that reason, a study focusing on the isolated OKR was carried out. Additionally, as visual clutter is known to negatively influence postural control <sup>157</sup>, the present study employed simultaneous posturographic measurements to monitor body-sway.

The visual stimulation was adapted from study 2, and featured the same general outline of inclined bars (see figure 7). However, as this study was not to be compared to results retrieved in darkness, the colour scheme was inverted, yielding black bars on white backgrounds. In a similar fashion to studies 2 and 3, the visual stimulation started with subjects viewing the static visual scene for 20s, acquiring a baseline. In order to stress the oculomotor responses to the visual rotation, the scene was then rotated for 20s at 72 deg/s<sup>2</sup>, after which the static scene was presented for another 20s. Subjects were asked to fixate their gaze on a central fixation point during the entire protocol. Ocular torsion and vertical vergence were recorded using the C-ETD. Additionally, the C-ETD also captures pupil size, which may be correlated to the instinctive stress response to a stimulus<sup>158</sup>. For this reason we also collected pupil size data throughout the protocol.

In order to ascertain that the luminosity of the visual scene did not change during the procedure we used a photometer to measure candela levels during several trials, which revealed no significant divergence across the visual scene. Aiming to correlate OKRs to subjects' postural shifts, we recorded the centre of pressure (CoP), before, during, and after each stimulation as an indication of body-sway; this was done using the Wii Balance Board (WBB). Participants were asked to remain standing upright as straight as possible during the entire protocol. OT and VV velocities were collected across three periods during the active stimulation phase: early (0-5s), middle (7.5-12.5s), and late (15-20s). Values were averaged

for all slow-phases during these periods, allowing a detailed description of the OKR across the stimulation. The average pupil size and body-sway were calculated and compiled into three time periods, before, during and after the visual rotation. Participants were balanced in terms of sex, male or female, and age, young or old. The order of presentation was also balanced between the low and high intensities.

## 3.3.3 Results

It is well-established that older individuals have a smaller pupil size compared to a younger population <sup>159</sup>, which was also reflected in this study. This did however not affect the change in pupil size as a response to the stimulation. There was no other effect of sex or age on the dependent variables.

The visual stimulation produced clear OT and VV responses (see figure 9). OT expressed clear reduction in average velocity as the stimulation progressed, while VV decreased only from the early to middle period. Importantly, visual clutter levels only had a significant effect on OT, with velocities increasing to the higher level of visual information density. Consequently, the increase in OT-VV ratio observed was caused by the increase in the OT response. This eye movement was affected by the order of presentation, as subjects who viewed the lower intensity stimulation first expressed higher velocities during both intensities.

Both body-sway and pupil size were affected by the level of visual clutter (see figure 9). Contrary to our hypothesis, both parameters decreased from the initial baseline to the optokinetic stimulation, reflecting improved postural control and a decreased stress response. While the new level of body-sway was retained after the stimulation had ended, the pupil size increased in size. An increase in visual clutter caused increased values to the higher visual intensity level for both body-sway and pupil size. Notably, this was true for all time periods, even while subjects were viewing static scenes. These results consequently indicate that intensified visual clutter causes poorer balance and increased stress, even when no active movement is involved. One may also note that while the CoP did not follow the direction of visual motion, as the posturographic findings in this study showed that subjects generally exhibited little movement in the lateral axis as compared to substantial anteroposterior sway, most notably towards the visual scene.

Correlation analyses showed that OT and VV were moderately correlated only for the low intensity stimulation, meaning that the two reflexes diverged in their response patterns as the visual clutter was increased. Torsion could also be correlated to pupil size for both visual

intensities, and to body-sway for the high intensity, meaning that OT may prove a valuable proxy for determining postural effects from visual clutter, particularly when exposed to high levels of visual information densities.



**Figure 9.** Torsional (A), body sway (B), and pupillary (C) responses to optokinetic stimulation. Torsional velocities refer to degrees per second, while body-sway in the shape of centre-of-pressure changes and mean pupil diameters were retrieved through a method of indexation. The figures are reprinted from Wibble T, Södergård U, Träisk F, Pansell T. Intensified visual clutter induces increased sympathetic signalling, poorer postural control, and faster torsional eye movements during visual rotation. PLoS One. 2020 Jan 3;15(1):e0227370. Published by PLoS One.

#### 3.3.4 Discussion

This study investigated the effects on visual clutter on the OKR and the general balance response, as indicated by body-sway and pupil-size. The reduction in OT over time reflects a well-known fading effect <sup>160</sup>. While OT velocities are known to reflect the speed of an optokinetic stimulation <sup>160</sup>, also inducing increased vection <sup>161</sup>, this study shows that OT velocities are affected by visual clutter in a similar fashion. It consequently appears likely that the energy levels contained in a rotating visual scene, velocities or clutter, have similar neurophysiological influences on the oculomotor network. We also found a significant effect on both body-sway and the autonomic stress response as reflected by the pupil-size. Altogether, these findings reflect an innate sensitivity to visual clutter, reflected in how visual information is integrated in the balance response. It should be noted that subjects expressed no subjective worsening of discomfort between intensity levels, suggesting primarily subcortical mechanisms involved in the process. Additionally, building on our findings in study 2, the fact that VV was less influenced by visual intensity levels compared to OT suggests that the shift in OT-VV ratio in the previous study may have been due to a shift in

OT velocities, which only became significant during the prolonged stimulation implemented here.

One ambition with this study was to investigate whether OT or VV could be implemented as a proxy for how visual motion affects postural control. As reflected by the correlation analyses, OT proved to be such a candidate, particularly during the high intensity level which produced moderate correlations to both body-sway and the autonomic stress response. The improved postural response and lowered stress response seen during the active optokinetic stimulation were unexpected, considering that visual motion has been shown to negatively affect these parameters <sup>162</sup>. One possible explanation for such a phenomenon could be the loss of directional cues during the static viewing caused by Troxler's effect, caused by the suppression of static visual input during visual fixation <sup>163</sup>. This was frequently reported by subjects, who reported that the visual scene was perceived as blank with the black bars reappearing during the active rotation. It may consequently seem likely that the loss of visual cues has a stronger effect on the balance reflexes than visual motion. It is also clear that visual clutter has a negative effect on these responses, as higher levels of visual clutter caused increased stress and body-sway during both static and active visual stimulations.

The findings in this study add important context for future studies investigating vertigo of non-vestibular origins. Patients with visual vertigo frequently describe an increased sensitivity to visual clutter and moving visual scenes <sup>129</sup>. This study shows that subjects, even though not being subjectively aware of it, will present with symptoms related to poorer postural control when exposed to visual clutter. Considering that this reflects a nominal physiological reaction, one may expect that patients expressing visual motion hypersensitivities may exhibited stronger responses due to an altered capacity for integrating visual information. Future studies investigating these fine oculomotor responses may serve as potential biomarkers for visually induced postural discomfort, enabling healthcare providers to follow patients over time with reference to objective and quantifiable parameters.

In conclusion, we have in this study shown how intensified visual clutter affects healthy individuals by causing an increased stress response and poorer postural control, as well as an altered OKR with faster torsional velocities during optokinetic rotations. These physiological responses may explain why many people experience discomfort to visual clutter, while also serving to contextualise the symptoms experienced by patients suffering from non-vestibular vertigo. As OT could be correlated to both postural and stress responses, it may serve as a possible proxy for studying visual motion integration in such patients.

## 3.4 OPTOKINETIC STIMULATION INDUCES VERTICAL VERGENCE, POSSIBLY THROUGH A NON-VISUAL PATHWAY

## 3.4.1 Aim

Our previous studies have shown that visually induced torsion and vertical vergence can respond in different ways to optokinetic motion, indicating modification through separate neural mechanisms. This study aims to investigate how vision influences the vergence response to optokinetic rotation.

## 3.4.2 Outline

Vertical vergence, or skew deviation, is a well-known brainstem reflex associated with a head tilt and which may serve as a diagnostic reference for vestibular conditions <sup>40</sup>. Vergence can also be induced by vertical disparities in a visual scene <sup>21</sup>. Vertical vergence is, due to the mechanical constraints of the orbita, expected to be associated with ocular torsion <sup>23</sup>. Our previous studies have shown that OT and VV behave differently depending on the level of visual clutter or motion acceleration of a rotating visual scene, indicating that the two eye movements are not necessarily constrained by their mechanical interactions. Additionally, the rotating optokinetic stimulations present no vertical disparities, inviting the question of why, and how, visually induced VV is induced and maintained.

In order to investigate the sensory drive of visually induced VV, we designed a testing protocol involving binocular and monocular viewing conditions. Subjects were standing in front of the projected visual scene, identical to the one implemented in study 3; they were instructed to stand shoulder-length and remain straight during the entire protocol according to similar principles as outlined in study 4, with the notable exception that the CoP was not quantified. The optokinetic stimulation was subsequently presented in two viewing conditions, the order of which was balanced through stratified randomization. The binocular viewing conditions involved subjects viewing the scene while their eye movements were recorded by the C-ETD in the same fashion as outlined in studies 2-4. The monocular trials involved placing an IR-translucent sheath in front of the left eye, allowing the camera to record binocular eye movements but blocking subject's line of sight of one eye.

Ocular torsion and vertical vergence were consequently monitored throughout these testing conditions. The outcome of the study could indicate one of three possible relationships between the two eye movements: 1) VV remains the same regardless of viewing condition or is continuously correlated to OT, indicating that it is secondary to OT, 2) VV is decreased

during monocular viewing, suggesting a visual drive, or 3) VV is increased during monocularity, signifying visual suppression.

## 3.4.3 Results

Visually induced vertical vergence was markedly increased during monocular viewing, while ocular torsion remained constant (see figure 10). Additionally, there were no distinct correlations between the two eye movements. Within-subject analyses also revealed significant differences between OT and VV, further signifying that the two are influenced by visual motion in different ways.



**Figure 10.** Ocular torsional and vergence responses to optokinetic stimulation during binocular (Bino) and monocular (Mono) viewing. Baseline levels have been adjusted to facilitate comparisons between viewing conditions. All oculomotor responses were collected from one individual.

## 3.4.4 Discussion

This study adds further evidence that visually induced vergence and ocular torsion rely on separate neural mechanisms. As outlined in our predictions, the fact that VV was increased during monocular viewing suggests that the eye movement response is in fact suppressed by vision. This naturally invites the follow-up question of how, and why, VV is induced in the first place.

As touched upon in the outline of this study, VV is generally considered to be a brainstem reflex stemming from the vestibular nuclei. There is no evidence for any other sensory drive of this phenomenon, with the possible exception of vision through vertical disparities, though even then it is closely coupled with OT<sup>21</sup>. It has been previously suggested that patients with dissociated vertical divergence (DVD) may do so due to an otherwise vestigial human dorsallight reflex <sup>43</sup>. DVD is characterized by one eye drifting upward when not in use, and studies have shown that children who grew up amblyopic, and later developed DVD, also show deviating subjective visual verticals, perceiving an increased rotation of a visual scene <sup>44</sup>. The dorsal light reflex serves as a postural re-alignment mechanisms based on incoming sunlight rather than gravity, and studies in early vertebrates have shown significant visuovestibular interaction as reflected in vestibular nuclei activity <sup>45</sup>. It is well known that the vestibular nuclei responds to optokinetic stimulations also in mammals <sup>164,165</sup>. In study 3 we showed how visually induced vergence can be affected by acceleration, which the visual system is relatively insensitive to while it is a key vestibular parameter <sup>166</sup>. For this reason, it is tempting to suggest that vertical vergence may reflect an oculomotor response to a visual activation of the vestibular nuclei.

Research in primordial vertebrates has suggested that ocular motility was driven by the development of a vestibular apparatus<sup>167</sup>. From this perspective, the VOR appears to be the driving force of gaze-stabilization, with the subsequent addition of the OKR. This perspective is given further credence from the fact that visual motion employs the vestibular nuclei, indicating that the neural integration of visual motion occurred secondary to that of vestibular input <sup>165</sup>. Should vertical vergence have remained as a vestigial dorsal light reflex in humans, only activated during monocular suppression in childhood, it is tempting to suggest that visually induced vertical vergence reflects a similar mechanism. In Brodsky's studies, patients with vertical divergence perceive and increased tilt due to monocular suppression, while this study showed that healthy subjects viewing a real visual tilt will exhibit increased vertical divergence during monocular viewing. With these two findings reflecting opposite sides of the same coin, it would appear likely that visually induced VV reflects a typically vestibular response in the perception of tilt. As our human visual system has developed to forego the dorsal light reflex, one may postulate that this vestibular response has likely been depressed in favour of the complex processing of visual information allowed by the human cortical-subcortical network. Vertical vergence may then be viewed as a primordial gazestabilizing reflex, aiming to maintain a visual horizon on the retina through an activation of the first gaze-stabilizing response in the vestibular nuclei.

In conclusion, optokinetic stimulation will induce a vertical vergence of the eyes, uncoupled to ocular torsion. While visually induced, this response is suppressed by vision as the vergence amplitude was increased during monocular viewing. Based on evolutionary evidence for vertebrate gaze-stabilization, we put forward that visually induced vertical vergence reflects the optokinetic activation of the vestibular nuclei. As such, this eye movement response may be of clinical relevance when assessing patients suffering from visually induced dizziness.

#### 3.5 THE EFFECTS OF MECLIZINE ON MOTION SICKNESS REVISITED

#### 3.5.1 Aim

Our previous studies have shown that the VOR and OKR exhibit robust summative responses in the torsional eye movement reflex. Meclizine is a commonly used antiemetic, but its effects on the sensory systems are still debated. This study investigates the sensory-specific effects of Meclizine on the visual and vestibular system.

#### 3.5.2 Outline

Motion sickness and vertigo are generally believed to stem from a mismatch of multisensory integration, particularly visual and vestibular input <sup>88</sup>. Meclizine is an antihistaminergic H1- antagonist, and while its antiemetic mechanism has generally ascribed to a depression of the vestibular system this efficiency has come into question <sup>168,169</sup>. Studies have shown antihistamines to exhibit different effects on different parts of the vestibular system, while others have yielded no effect at all, instead revealing reduced sensitivities to visual motion <sup>140,141</sup>. For this reason, the methodological principle outlined in studies 2 and 3, deducing visual and vestibular influences through ocular torsion, would lend itself well for evaluating these sensory-specific responses.

The gaze-stabilizing reflexes of the OKR and VOR constitute well-established methods for evaluation antiemetic medications <sup>142,170</sup>. Visuovestibular integration is reflected in a number of neural structures, cortical and subcortical in the brainstem and cerebellum <sup>89,165,171</sup>. Any depression of sensory neural pathway should consequently be reflected in a deviation of their influences on gaze-stabilization.

Studies 2 and 3 allowed us to quantify the influences of the visual and vestibular systems on gaze-stabilization, as they retained a robust summative effect in the torsional OKR and VOR. As motion sickness is frequently associated with velocities and accelerations, the present study opted to implement the same methodological setup as outlined in study 3, introducing

visual, vestibular, and visuovestibular stimulations according to the previously described principles. In order to test the efficiency of Meclizine, subjects participated in all trials to produce baseline values. All participants were then administered either two tablets of 25mg Meclizine, or two sugar pills constituting the placebo intervention; all trials were then repeated after a two hour waiting period. The intervention was triple blinded, with the administration key not being revealed to all researchers until the analysis was complete. The gaze-stabilizing eye movements were analysed in terms of changes in torsional velocities, shifts in amplitudes, and number of nystagmus beats during the stimulation, compared between baseline and post-intervention trials.

#### 3.5.3 Results

The use of a repeated ANOVA model allowed intricate analyses of within-subject effects across the three modalities, comparing the outcomes in relation to pre- and post-medical intervention. Meclizine's effects on gaze-stabilization proved complex. Analyses needed to account for possible learning effects between trials as well as inter-individual differences. Using a Bayesian ANOVA approach, results showed a significant interaction effect where the intervention, Meclizine or placebo, showed significant influences dependant on the stimulation intensity.

Contrary to the current hypothesis, the torsional velocity was increased to vestibular stimulations in the Meclizine group relative to the placebo group. Optokinetic responses remained unaffected, while the strongest effect was seen for the visuo-vestibular trials, where a strong Bayesian correlation showed that torsional velocities decreased during low intensity trials, only to increase in the high intensity protocol.

#### 3.5.4 Discussion

Aiming to evaluate the effects on Meclizine on motion sickness through gaze-stabilization, our results revealed a complex interaction which ultimately suggests that the antihistaminergic efficacy is maintained not through any sensory-specific depression, but rather a general sedation as indicated by the lowered integrative visuovestibular response. Considering the well-described effects of Meclizine on the subjective feeling of motionsickness, this offers valuable insight into how it may reach its antiemetic effects.

In order to contextualize the findings further, it may be helpful to illustrate how the stimulation parameters could be reflected in real-world scenarios. A train, for example, regularly tilts at angles of 5-7 degrees, while a car sees essentially no movement in the roll plane, compared to fighter pilots who may experience 90 degree rolls at a maximum rate of

125 deg/s <sup>172,173</sup>. In this regard, the accelerations implemented in this study are in the higher end of intensities of what an everyday traveller may expect. The decreased responses during this study's low intensity visuovestibular trials may, therefore, be considered the closest to nominal travelling conditions, i.e. a passenger with intact visual and vestibular input during low accelerations. The facts that the isolated vestibular trial produced increased torsional gain goes against the hypothesis that Meclizine downregulates the vestibular response, conversely indicating an enhancement. Such an enhancement may well be the reason behind the subsequent increase in visuovestibular activity during the high intensity stimulations, as the relative importance of the vestibular system is increased with heightened accelerations as shown in study 3.

As previously outlined, studies diverge on the effects of Meclizine, and the relatively small sample size in this study does pose a limitation for extrapolating the results to a general population. Furthermore, at least one previous study has shown that vestibular function in healthy subjects may only be affected during linear acceleration <sup>174</sup>. Other studies implementing rotatory stimuli often make use of quite high accelerations, up to 400 deg/s<sup>2</sup>, which serves an important purpose in stress testing the vestibular system though it may not reflect daily activities <sup>141</sup>. One may also theorize that the outcome could be dosage-dependant; the present protocol provided subjects with twice the recommended intake for motion sickness, though still within the recommended use for the drug. As such, a subclinical effect may be misinterpreted as drug-induced although it may have stemmed from a decreased vestibular gain due to habituation.

Considering the complex response patterns found, this opens up the discussion for what alternate pharmacodynamics may be in place to sustain the anti-emetic effects. Animal studies have recently indicated that the effects of antihistamines are relayed through central receptors, influencing several factors such as respiration, thermoregulation and gastric activity <sup>175</sup>. As antihistamines, primarily early generation iterations, famously cause drowsiness, it is tempting to suggest that Meclizine's desired effects are achieved through general sedation, downregulating the multisensory integration of visual and vestibular inputs. Naturally, such a claim invites neurophysiological trials which cannot be performed on human subjects. It is noteworthy that the majority of antihistamines in clinical use for treating motion sickness are first generation, impacting both central and peripheral systems, whereas second generation iterations are less effective which may be due to their milder central effects <sup>176,177</sup>.

In conclusion, Meclizine did not exhibit any inhibitory effect on neither VOR nor OKR. In contrast, VOR gain was increased in the Meclizine group compared to controls, suggesting enhancement of vestibular input. A decreased gaze-stabilization gain was however observed during the combined visuovestibular trial during low intensities, reflecting the protocol closest to nominal travelling conditions. Considering the efficiency of first generation antihistamines over later models, Meclizine's anti-emetic effects are likely due to the central effects of Meclizine and other first antihistamines, possibly in part through sedative influences on sensory integration as indicated in this study. The optokinetic and vestibulo-ocular reflexes summarily offer valuable insight into how visuovestibular integration is affected by antihistaminergic medication. Future studies targeting these systems may benefit from considering gaze-stabilization when assessing the sensory specific effects of clinical interventions.

## 4 SUMMARY

Eye movements reflect the activity of a complex sensorimotor network. Ultimately, the neural decision to recruit the extra-ocular muscles is carried out by the brainstem. Gaze-stabilization represents the most fundamental level of eye movement control, illustrated by the vertebrate VOR and OKR having evolved already at the dawn of vertebrate life. The neural circuitry of these two mechanisms serves as a progenitor for all vertebrate eye movements <sup>6</sup>. This thesis aimed to approach gaze-stabilization from a wide perspective, unravelling the neural mechanisms conserved from the onset of vertebrate evolution, investigating the integration of VOR and OKR in healthy adults and finally implementing the new insights in a clinical setting.

The first study of this thesis made use of the lamprey animal model to study the neural network allowing for visuovestibular integration in gaze-stabilization. Of particular notice was the preserved role of the pretectal nucleus which served as the first step of visual motion integration; through projections into the optic tract for retrieving optokinetic information this nucleus could then relay data to the vestibular and oculomotor nuclei. Combined with the clear OKR and VOR, featuring both slow- and fast-phase eye movements, these findings show that the lamprey serves as a valid model for studying gaze-stability, serving as the neural template on which vertebrate evolution rests. While voluntary gaze-shifts in humans, such as goal-oriented saccades, are initiated by cortical command, this thesis suggests that gaze-stabilization is achieved through subcortical mechanisms that do not rely on cerebellar or cortical input for merging visual and vestibular data. Furthermore, the interaction between tectal and pretectal influences on visuovestibular integration indicate that the superior colliculus likely served as the first neural structure involved in voluntary eye movements through a downregulation of the reflexive optokinetic response.

Having provided behavioural, neurophysiological and anatomical context for eye movement control in agnathan vertebrates, this thesis allowed us to create an updated phylogenetic tree of eye movements, illustrating the origins of all oculomotor control. Through evaluating the neural basis of the OKR, the VOR, and their subsequent interaction, we are now in a better position for contextualizing human eye movement responses. It was from this perspective we moved forward assessing ocular torsion and vertical vergence in healthy humans.

Before addressing the integrative nature of the OKR onto the VOR in gaze-stabilization, we may first contextualize the findings of the studies dealing with isolated optokinetic stimuli. The aim of studying gaze-stabilization in healthy subjects was to identify features that may be

of clinical utility. As shown in this thesis, ocular torsion could be correlated to body-sway and pupil-size, the former being indicative of postural imbalance and the latter an increased stress response. In addition, it is noteworthy that increased visual information density, or clutter, increased OKR gain. With the OKR reflecting a need to stabilize a visual scene on the retina, one may ask why the same movements would produce different responses; an image with additional visual features should logically demand the same amount of clamping as one with less clutter, as long as they move with the same amplitude and velocity. In contextualizing the eye movement response with its evolutionary origins, i.e the OKR building on the pre-existing VOR network, one possible hypothesis takes shape.

While intensified visual clutter does not necessitate greater OKR gain, it does produce increased retinal flow. As a result, more information is carried through the optic tract. The increased OKR velocity appears to cause additional pretectal activity, as this structure serves as the first integrator of optokinetic information towards a gaze-stabilizing response. It may be that pretectal neurons fail to differentiate between optokinetic velocities or visual content carried through the optic tract, instead relaying visual input based on signal strength as relayed through the optic nerves. Such a relationship may offer important context for visual deficits in the general population, as peripheral ocular damages may lead to altered visual motion processing through the pretectal efferents.

The second order of optokinetic integration occurs at the level of the vestibular nuclei. Approaching this from the perspective of sensorimotor control, we may hypothesise as to why visual clutter affects postural and autonomic responses. Increased pretectal activity may be reflected in a greater engagement of the vestibular nuclei <sup>164</sup>, and with no clear way of separating optokinetic velocities from visual content an increase in either would result in upregulated gaze-stabilizing reflexes. Such an interaction would also explain the increased postural and stress responses to intensified visual clutter found in this thesis; an increased vestibular activation will naturally have consequences for postural control, which here was illustrated in increased body-sway and sympathetic activity.

Studies 2-4 also raised the question as to why vertical vergence behaved differently to ocular torsion. The two are known to be intrinsically linked, and there is no clear reason why they should exhibit different response patterns to the same optokinetic stimulus. As previously outlined, vertical vergence is generally considered a vestibular response, secondary to ocular torsion, or driven by visual disparities, aiming to maintain intact stereovision. Several studies in this thesis found deviations from this hypothesis; the torsion-vergence ratio skewed in different conditions, favouring torsion with increased visual clutter and favouring vergence

during increased accelerations. These findings indicate separate neural mechanisms sustaining the two eye movements. As vertical vergence is considered vestibular in nature, we designed a study to investigate the role of visual input to this response. Results reliable showed how the response was increased during monocularity, signifying that binocular visual information inhibits this reflexive eye movement.

The fact that optokinetic stimulation can induce vertical vergence, and that it is suppressed during binocular viewing, constitutes an anomaly in traditional gaze-stabilization. These findings show that vergence is not only part of the VOR, but also the OKR. In addition to adding novel insights into the constituent parts of the optokinetic reflex, it also highlights the fundamental neural connectivity of the VOR and OKR; it is unlikely that visually induced vertical vergence is relayed through direct projections from pretectum to oculomotor nuclei, but like other optokinetic responses are modified by activity in the vestibular nuclei. In study five, we discuss the possibility that visual input supressed this response, though it may also be that monocular viewing simply results in lower pretectal activity, which in turn translates into decreased vestibular signalling; pretectal neurons are known to be differentially tuned to monocular or binocular input in zebrafish, establishing that a neural correlate for such a relationship exists in vertebrates <sup>178</sup>. The fact that ocular torsion remained constant would in such a case indicate that OT may be more readily modified by purely visual pathways, which its increase to enhanced visual clutter would also suggest. The visual-vestibular dichotomy is further exemplified in the studies investigating OKR and VOR interactions. As previously noted, the torsion-vergence ratio was increased to intensified visual clutter and decreased to heightened accelerations. These results fit well within the proposed model of ocular torsion reflecting optokinetic content and vergence signifying vestibular activation, as acceleration is known to have little effect on visual responses but act as a primary variable for the vestibular system.

In investigating the integrative effects of the OKR and VOR in humans, it was clear that the torsional response expressed a clearer summative effect, which was not seen for the vergence reflex. This was manifest in torsional velocities being consistently robust in that when added together from the isolated trials, the OKR and VOR summated to the joint visuovestibular response. Torsion is a known component of both OKR and VOR, whereas we have just recently shown that the same is true for vergence. It is consequently not necessarily surprising that vergence did not reflect this robust summative nature, especially if this eye movement response intrinsically favours the vestibular system. Another possible explanation may be

that, as human vision expresses the least amount of leeway for torsional disparities compared to vertical and horizontal input <sup>179</sup>, the torsional reflex is better equipped for realignment.

The summative nature of the torsional response between visual and vestibular modalities paves the way for implementing this eye movement reflex in investigating the sensory specific effects of medical interventions. Meclizine, due to its somewhat contrasting findings regarding its pharmacodynamics effects, offered an appropriate first approach. Contrary to the ruling hypothesis, we found no inhibitory effect on the VOR of this first generation antihistamine. We rather saw the inverse effect, as VOR velocities were enhanced. A reduction seen in the nominal, visuovestibular, condition could however offer an explanation for the drug's effect through an inhibition of the sensory integration. The conclusion, therefore, was that the anti-emetic effects may not be due to the antihistaminergic influence on the peripheral vestibular system, but rather through a central effect of general sedation. As outlined in previous sections, this is in line with first generation antihistamines proving the most efficient against motion-sickness, as they have stronger central and sedative effects.

# 5 CONCLUSIONS

The previous segment contextualized the findings of the individual studies, both in relation to each other as well as the general framework of gaze-stabilization. Here follows a brief overview of the main findings of this thesis:

- The VOR and OKR are well-developed in lamprey and show additive properties during visuovestibular stimulations.
- Prectectum appears as the primary contributor to visual motion information to gazestabilization.
- Nystagmic eye movements are featured in the lamprey VOR, presenting the evolutionary oculomotor basis for goal-oriented saccades.
- Ocular torsion reflects the visual information density, or clutter, in a visual scene and can be correlated to automated postural responses in the form of body-sway and increased autonomic stress.
- Vertical vergence can be optokinetically induced, though it is inhibited by binocular visual input, suggesting a vestibular drive.
- The OKR, like the VOR, recruits vergence eye movements in its reflexive response. Both means of gaze-stabilization consequently involves slow-phases, quick-phases, and vergence eye movements.
- Visual and vestibular input exhibit clear summative effects on gaze-stabilization in humans as indicated by ocular torsion.
- Roll plane gaze-stabilization offers a valid methodological platform for clinical trials investigating interventions targeting the visual or vestibular systems. This thesis used ocular torsion to show that the anti-emetic effects of Meclizine, a first generation antihistamine, may achieve efficacy through a general sedative effect on the central integration of visuovestibular information.
### 6 POINTS OF PERSPECTIVE

In breaching the topic of gaze-stabilization from a broad perspective, this thesis presents a number of new findings that warrant further investigation. Starting with the basic principles of visuovestibular integration towards VOR/OKR interaction, the conserved nature of gazestabilization throughout the vertebrate lineage invites further studies using the lamprey animal model. While we have shown that pretectum serve as the first level of visual integration, we have only superficially addressed second order integration points. For example, the interaction between pretectum and tectum emerges as a key aspect of eyemovement control. It is still not known through what mechanisms tectum influences the pretectal relay of visual data, and the lamprey preparation offers an accessible approach to such an investigation. The same holds true for cortical input; pallial lesioning did not abolish the OKR, but its impact on visuovestibular integration remains unknown. These trials could be carried out using the methodologies outlined in this thesis, and serve an important role in mapping the foundation of eye movement control. While we focused primarily on the anterior octavolateral nucleus (AON), the lamprey brainstem features three distinct vestibular nuclei <sup>74</sup>, and the interaction between these remains largely unknown. The human vestibular nuclei are some of the largest cranial nerve cores, featuring several sub-nuclei. We have investigated visual input into the lamprey AON using both extra- and intracellular recordings, but further studies could benefit from investigating how these signals are relayed throughout this network. Apart from mapping visuovestibular integration, it could also provide evolutionary context for the merging of the octavomotor areas into the clusters that constitute the mammalian nuclei. Additionally, considering the close relationship to locomotion, the vestibular nuclei would likely offer further insights into how somatosensory information influences gaze-stabilization, which occurs through corollary discharge in the lamprey during locomotion. Parallels may be drawn with the human attenuation of the vestibular responses during self-generated movements <sup>53</sup>. Furthermore, tracer injections in the lamprey oculomotor as well as vestibular nuclei showed axons connecting to a region near the nMLF, which may correspond to a primordial gaze-centre. The lamprey consequently offers several promising approaches to studying eye-movement control from both evolutionary and neurophysiological perspectives.

Regarding eye-movement analysis in humans, we introduce the notion that vertical vergence can be induced through optokinetic stimulations. Considering the limited population size, this hypothesis would benefit from additional studies expanding on the nature of such a response. Our hypothesis that it reflects a visual recruitment of the vestibular system requires further studies correlating vestibular activity to vergence eye movements. This is naturally difficult to do accurately in humans, though MEG or fMRI may be of some assistance. Electrophysiological experiments in primate animal models would provide clearer results if combined with scleral coil eye tracking, as per the golden standard. Nevertheless, it would be interesting to study optokinetic vergence, or the torsion-vergence ratio, in patients who suffer from visually induced vertigo. One may speculate that such symptoms may be correlated with a relative increase in the vergence response that could reflect a hyper-excitability of the vestibular nuclei from optokinetic sources. Such a finding would give important context for non-vestibular vertigo, and offer an objective and quantifiable parameter to implement for clinical use and testing.

The robust summative effect of ocular torsion from the OKR and VOR onto a visuovestibular response opens up for studying sensory specific effects of medical conditions and interventions. We have already implemented such a protocol in our study on Meclizine, and similar designs may be successfully implanted in detailing the effects of any intervention involving visual or vestibular input. Furthermore, the relative influence of each sense onto the visuovestibular sum may be indicative of how patients with sensory deficits integrate motion. For example, patients with non-vestibular vertigo may exhibit greater visual influences. It could also indicate how an individual with visual field loss is affected by optokinetic stimuli; clinical tests can assess visual acuity and the extent of the visual loss, but there is currently no objective way of quantifying how visual motion is affected. As the vestibular response in such patients would be expected to remain unaffected, the torsional VOR may offer a point of reference to what an expected response rate may look like. Similar testing protocols may be implemented for patients with vestibular deficits, or non-specific symptoms of altered motion sensitivity.

### 7 METHODOLOGICAL CONSIDERATIONS

Through its incorporation of both basic and clinical studies this thesis employs a wide range of techniques. In order to offer an overview of the general principles involved these will be presented in two separate segments, dedicated to the lamprey and human protocols respectively. The article summaries have introduced the general outline these methodologies apply to each specific study. For more detailed descriptions we would refer to the individual papers attached to this compilation.

#### 7.1 ETHICAL CONSIDERATIONS

Due to the translational nature of this thesis, several ethical permits were issued for the range of studies undertaken. All studies consequently complied with the Declaration of Helsinki. Ethical approvals were issued by the local ethics committees for clinical (EPN 2018-1768-31-1.) as well as basic science (N195/14; 5806-2019) protocols. This segment will present an overview of the ethical considerations taken into account for the lamprey and human trials respectively.

The animal trials of this thesis required the decerebration of all lamprey preparations. This was carried out under general anaesthesia induced by MS-222, with every effort made to use as few animals as possible and minimize their suffering. Animals were housed in aquaria that were continuously perfused with oxygen, equipped with filtration systems, and monitored through daily inspections to ensure that the water temperature was kept at the appropriate level and that the animals appeared content. Upon processing the animal for electrophysiological recordings or tracer injections, one animal would be retrieved, anaesthetized in water, before a quick incision at the level of the third gill was administered using a sharp scalpel to ensure a smooth lesioning of the rostral spinal cord. The use of our newly developed lamprey eye-brain-labyrinth preparation allowed us to then record the physiological gaze-stabilizing responses to visual, vestibular, and somatosensory stimulations. The fact that we were able to perform the research protocols in a close to reallife setting is of significant importance when discussing the ethical considerations of the animal trials; as a key component of handling animal trials involves ensuring that the outcome is met with as few animals as possible, the neural integrity of our design lowers the number of animals one may need, providing clear and quantifiable responses reflecting those found in the behavioural protocols. These latter trials involving intact lamprey involved exposing the animals to an alien environment for a short period of time, as they were enclosed in a small cylinder which allowed breathing but discouraged swimming, while a

bright light was shone onto the head to ensure good video-quality. We monitored the lamprey throughout this entire period for signs of duress. The ideal condition for the testing protocol involved the animal attaching to the wall of the cylinder, at which point it would be relaxed, immobile, and offer the clearest eye movement response. For that reason we would take a break if the testing period became unnecessarily prolonged, during which the animal was placed in a larger container of water and the content of the cylinder could be renewed. After the behavioural trials, the animal would be released back into an aquarium.

The clinical studies employed a very mild set of methodologies. The only consistent complaint was relating to the eye-tracker proving a poor fit for some participants. We attempted to assuage this by remoulding the face-mask holding the tracker in place, and offering cotton swabs to alleviate the discomfort. Study six was the only one where subjects reported any negative side-effects from participation, exclusively in the form of increased drowsiness from the antihistamines. Testing a pharmaceutical intervention naturally involves rigorous ethical considerations. It should be noted that the drug, Meclizine, is available overthe-counter, and the administered dosage was within the daily-recommended intake although it was set to twice that of the anti-emetic starting dose. As with all of our other clinical studies, written consent was obtained and subjects invited to ask questions after having the procedure including possible side effects explained to them. It should be noted that no subject expected any improvement from any present concern, and the purpose was solely to test the drug's effect on gaze-stability during the stimulations. Several subjects reported drowsiness as a side-effect, though these were reported from several members of the placebo-group as well, so may well have been due to the repetitive nature of the trials. All subjects had the option to terminate the procedure by pressing a stop-button at any given time, or simply close their eyes during optokinetic conditions. In addition, it was our policy to not award participation with any material and monetary compensations, as we wanted to limit the risk of subjects participating against their own interests. We routinely asked participants on how they perceived the trials and for their advice on possible improvements on subject comfort. Ultimately, we received no indication that any subject perceived any trial to be excessive or anything more abrasive than slightly uncomfortable.

#### 7.2 LAMPREY STUDIES

The preclinical study involved three sets of protocols: behaviour, electrophysiology, and tract tracing. The initial set of behavioural studies employed feature-tracking algorithms on videos obtained with a dedicated camera (Grasshopper3, GS3-U3-23S6M-C, FLIR Systems, Wilsonville) which was used across all trials. This way we could quantify the VOR in all

three planes. In order to visualize its trajectory more specifically, we constructed the lampreyrotating platform, where an intact specimen was housed in a fitted chamber filled with cold water. As we could control the velocity and amplitude of these rotations, we were able to compare slow eye-movements and fast eye-movements in the yaw plane across multiple intensities. Using the same video-tracking protocols, we were also able to capture the eyemovement response during locomotion induced either through mechanical stimulation of the tail in a semi-intact preparation, or by chemically triggering the central nervous system with glutamate in a brain-spinal cord dissection; the former would cause the lamprey to issue the command for motion, whereas the latter would stem from downstream excitation at the level of the spinal cord, allowing some context for how any locomotion-induced gaze-stabilization would be conveyed. Attempts were made to film the OKR, using mirrors placed at several locations. While we noted some indications of movements, and as shown in the electrophysiological recordings, the eye movements proved rapid and transient, and our video camera was not able to reliable quantify the response. All trials were carried out in darkness, save for a bright light source located just above the video camera in order to allow sufficient lighting conditions for images to be captured while also blinding the lamprey so as to eliminate any optokinetic contribution during the rotation.

Having built the spinning platform using the Arduino microcontroller and servo-motors (see figure 11), we produced a rotating platform capable of sustaining a lamprey brain for several hours while presenting both visual and vestibular stimulations. With our novel lamprey-brainlabyrinth preparation in mind we linked this system with electrophysiological recording equipment in order to construct an integrated platform through which visuovestibular integration could be quantified and subsequently tested through lesioning interventions. Preparations were enclosed in a see-through plastic cylinder, which was cooled through induction via a holding-tube made out of copper attached to a Peltier cooler, keeping the artificial cerebrospinal fluid (aCSF) at 6-8°C. Electrophysiological trials, using tungsten microelectrodes (~1-5 M $\Omega$ ) connected to a 4-channel amplifier to capture local field potentials (LFPs), aimed to reproduce the physiological responses seen during the behavioural protocols while monitoring neural and muscular responses in some key areas, notably the vestibular nuclei and extraocular muscles. Both vestibular and visual motion triggered activity in these regions, validating the animal model for future use. As the lamprey brain is quite thin, most structures are reachable from a dorsal opening. We were subsequently able to perform a set of stimulations, carry out precise lesions either mechanically or pharmacologically, and repeat said protocols in order to test the effect of specific neural regions on gaze-stabilization. Vestibular stimulations were carried out using a

59

servo motor and coded in the Arduino IDE. This signal was triggered using Matlab and the Psychophysics Toolbox extension, which also was used to create the optokinetic stimuli synchronized with the servo engine. All experiments were carried out in darkness with the only light sources being the two monitors which presented a white light at baseline; this scene was intermixed with black lines during the optokinetic trials, minimizing the influence of a dorsal light response. Preparations were left to adapt to this light for ca. 1 hour before stimuli were applied. The integrity of the neural network was tested by manually tilting the platform and observing the EMG recordings of the VOR.

Tracer injections were performed as a compliment to the electrophysiological findings, allowing us to visualise the network involved. Tracers were pressure injected into the oculomotor nucleus or the vestibular nucleus, specifically the AON, in order to ascertain how their respective projections interact. This allowed further context for the results found during the lesioning protocols and enabled us to create a map of the fundamental network controlling gaze-stabilization in the brainstem. In addition, injections were performed to aid during the intracellular electrophysiological recordings; unilateral injections into the tract projection from the AON to N.III with dextran allowed us to identify cells carrying the relevant motor response. Patch-clamp whole-cell recordings were subsequently performed on a brain preparation with the AON and pretectum intact, with stained AON neurons being recorded during pretectal stimulations. Recordings were made using pipettes of 7-10 M $\Omega$  with an intracellular solution, and the stimulations were made using the same borosilicate glass microcapillaries at one-to-two times the threshold strength of a postsynaptic potential (10-100  $\mu$ A). As it was not possible to perform physiological optokinetic stimulations, these electrical prompts served to reflect the activity of pretectum as the first level integrator of visual motion, as outlined in the previous trials.



**Figure 11.** The lamprey tilting platform allowing synchronized vestibular and visual stimulations. Matlab commands allow the system to tilt with the aid of a servo motor while optokinetic stimuli are presented on two monitors. This is relayed through an Arduino microcontroller which also allows for simultaneous electrophysiological recordings. A lamprey preparation can be submerged in artificial cerebrospinal fluid in the transparent chamber, which is continuously cooled through induction using a Peltier system.

#### 7.3 HUMAN STUDIES

In order to quantify the relative contribution of visual and vestibular input on the multisensory control of gaze-stabilization, we exposed healthy human subjects to optokinetic and whole-body roll-rotations of comparable magnitudes while recording the eye movement responses of ocular torsion and vertical vergence. To this effect, an in-house constructed motorized chair was used (see figure 12). Moving on two independent belts connected to two AC Brushless Servo Motors (Baldor BSM90C, 400 V), it is capable of precis translational and rotational full-body movements through its associated software. The chair was implemented in studies 2, 3 and 6, moving subjects with predetermined amplitudes and accelerations around a rotation-point that was readjusted for each individual to be centred on the glabella. This vestibular stimulation was matched with optokinetic rotations presented on a projector screen (res 1024 x 768; contrast 2000:1; update frequency 60Hz) by a front video projector (NEC NP-M350X, NEC Display Solutions Ltd., Tokyo). The visual scene was projected two meters in front of the subject, covering 50° of the field-of-view. The visual motion was produced using PowerPoint for Windows 10 (Powerpoint; Microsoft, Redmond, WA). This experimental setup also allowed for carrying out independent optokinetic and vestibular protocols. This was done by having either the subject sit at rest while the visual scene was rotated according to the study-specific protocol (visual only), or by performing the whole-body rotation in complete darkness (vestibular only). The outcome variables for these two sensory-specific trials could then be compared to the combined trial, featuring the subject being tilted in the chair while viewing the static visual scene (visuovestibular). The specific layout of the visual scene is presented in the attached manuscripts of each study.

Studies 4-5 implement isolate optokinetic stimulations according to the principles described above, with the important distinction that subjects viewed the screen while standing. The standing position was designated to the same physical location as the mechanized chair would otherwise have occupied. In order to correlate postural sway with the reflexive eye movement responses in study 4, subjects were instructed to stand as still as possible on a Wii Balance Board (WBB; Nintendo, Kyoto, Japan) with feet placed at shoulder width. The CoP was measured using a dynamic sampling rate averaging 99.1Hz, and formatted into a scatter plot in the Origin software where a 95% confidence ellipse was used to quantify the area of movement. This value was taken to be representative of the postural sway and was correlated with the eye movement responses to the respective visual stimulation.

Study 5 tested the impact on binocularity on vertical vergence while viewing a rotating visual scene. Subjects were asked to stand within a marked area, located at the same spot the WBB was placed on in study 4 and according to the same principles, though their postural sway was not monitored. Monocular occlusion was carried out by placing an infrared-translucent sheath in front of the subjects' left eyes, blocking visible light while appearing as translucent to the eye-tracker cameras, thus allowing binocular recordings during monocular viewing.

Eye movements were measured using the Chronos Eye-Tracker (Chronos Inc, Berlin, Germany), employed to monitor the torsional and vergence eye movements known to be shared between the roll plane OKR and VOR. The C-ETD was set to binocular recording at 200Hz for study 2, which was altered to 100Hz for studies 2, 3 and 6 as it was deemed adequate for the slow-phase analyses undertaken. The head mount featured a source for infrared radiation for each eye, and with infrared compatible cameras the eyes could be recorded monitored in complete darkness. In addition to tracking pupil displacements with a high spatial resolution ( $<0.05^{\circ}$ ), the C-ETD implements iris feature tracking to calculate the OT ( $<0.1^{\circ}$ ). This is done by comparing each frame to an initial reference segment of the iris. The Chronos software provides each frame with a quality score between 0 and 1, with 1 equating the highest level of quality. In order to ascertain high quality data and preclude the eyelid interfering with the iris segment, all frames below a score of 0.5 were removed. The C-ETD also hosts two accelerometers that track the head in three rotational and three translational dimensions. Eye, head and chair positions were exported to Origin (OriginPro 2017; OriginLab, Northampton, MA) where the movement amplitudes were translated into degrees and plotted over time. Displacements in the form of amplitudes, slow-phases and

nystagmus beats were then identified and calculated manually according to the aim of each specific study, as reflected in the respective result sections of this thesis. Nystagmus beats were identified visually as being separated by, and in the opposite direction of, slow-phase eye movements. Head position was compared to the chair location so as to ascertain vestibular activity at any given time. This ensured that each eye movement response could be attributed to the correct sensory system.



**Figure 12.** The mechanized sled used for whole-body manipulation during vestibular stimulations. The head is stabilized using an extriction collar and hook-and-loop straps. The chair rotates on two belts powered by dedicated servo motors, while the eye movement responses are monitored using the head mounted Chronos Eye Tracker worn by the subject. Reprinted from Wibble T, Pansell T. Vestibular eye movements are heavily impacted by visual motion and are sensitive to changes in visual intensities. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci.* 2019;60:1021–1027. © 2019 The Authors. Published by the Association for Research in Vision and Ophthalmology (ARVO).

# ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I have been fortunate to have met and worked with many talented people throughout this journey. Naturally, this thesis would not have been possible without everyone who agreed to strap into our sled, wear the somewhat uncomfortable gear, and offer their participation in our studies. I am incredibly grateful for your time. I would also like to take this opportunity to address the people who made this body of work possible:

To **Tony Pansell**, for allowing me the platform to pursue my own interests in a way few supervisors would. You have always been fair, supportive, and made me feel heard. A PhD takes a long time, a time which inevitably sees both ups and downs, and I would not have gotten to this stage, as a person or as a scientist, without your calm and understanding, for which I will always be grateful.

To **Frank Träisk**, for offering your advice and clinical expertise throughout these years. Despite your incredibly busy schedule you took the time to read through everything I sent you with the keenest attention to detail. As I move on with my clinical training, I will always keep your dedication to the patient in mind. Hopefully, I will one day be able to join you as a colleague.

To **Juan Pérez-Fernández**, for your support in every possible way. We started with a drawing on a napkin, and today we find ourselves pursuing those ideas full time. You helped infuse a new sense of passion into this thesis, and it would have been but a shadow of its current state had it not been for everything you've done. Your scientific talent, attention to people, and humility in the face of it all, continues to inspire. I am proud to have called you mentor, supervisor, and friend, and I look forward to many more years of making things spin.

To **Sten Grillner**, without whom none of this would have been possible. I came to you after my first year in medical school, knowing quite a bit about Afghan regional politics but very little about the brain. Nevertheless, you gave me a chance and I could not have asked for a better introduction to science. I will always view science as a reflection of you and your group, from the details put into every study, to the meeting of curious minds over coffee. I am exceptionally proud to have had a desk in your lab.

To **Jan Ygge**, for taking in a medical student who had barely held an ophthalmoscope. I have looked to you for guidance in research, science communication, and finding the way through the clinical-academic maze.

To **Jan Johansson**, for always taking the time to act as the first test subject whenever I've had a new idea. I don't think anyone has spent as much time wearing the eye-tracker as you, and I'm incredibly grateful for your support.

To **Brita Robertson**, for helping me hone my academic language and eye for detail. I envision your feedback every time I contemplate a sentence for an article. To **Peter Wallén**, for your help through my first years as a medical student.

To everyone at **Marianne Bernadotte Centrum**, for welcoming me as one of your own and for your support through these years. A special thank you to **Gunnar Lennerstrand**, for always lending your ear for my scientific queries or to talk about history or culture. Thank you to **Kristina Fahnehjelm** and **Kerstin Hellgren** for your insights into clinical research and training, and to **Mattias Nilsson** for always having a kind word at the ready. A special thank you to **Agneta Rydberg** and **Monica Olsson**, for creating an atmosphere that made me want to go to work every morning. A special thank you to **Davide Frattini**, for our many discussions and joint projects over the years, and I look forward to the many more that are sure to follow. Finally, thank you to **Marianne Bernadotte** and the **Marianne Bernadotte Foundation** for your support, and for creating the platform that allows us our pursuit of knowledge.

To the people in the **Division of Eye and Vision at St. Erik Eye Hospital**, for your help and support. To **Flavia Plastino**, for co-founding the Junior Faculty Group with me in trying to bring people closer together. To **Pete Williams**, **James Tribble** and **Helder André**, for always showing an interest in my research and being there at every major event. To **Rune Brautaset**, for always taking the time to listen to a query.

To the many brilliant people that I have crossed paths with at Biomedicum. To **Maya Ketzef**, for the many conversations and getting to share your sense of humour. To **Roberto de la Torre Martinez** for your technical support as well as your most welcome invitations for coffee and lunch. To **Daichi Suzuki** for your friendship and insights into both science and culture. To **Shreyas Suryanarayana** for teaching me how to perform my first dissection and guidance through my first conference. To **Elham Jalalvand**, for always being kind and offering me a chance to practice my Persian. To **Abd Aljabbar Seek**, for your support and friendship.

To **Maria Persson**, for always being there to lend a helping hand, and for the many conversations we have had that made the workplace a more interesting place. I always enjoy when our paths happen to cross by the Marina, and I cannot imagine having gone through all of this without you and your positive energy.

To **Luca Verrecchia**, for your clinical expertise and insights on how to approach patients with vertigo. I look forward to many more meetings and future projects together.

To all the students who have passed through the corridors at MBC. A special thank you to **Ulrika Södergård**, for lending a hand in my first study and its subsequent submission, and to **Johanna Engström**, for investing a great deal of time and effort into our research. I would also like to thank **Ódinn Kari Runarsson**, for lending your technical provess to our group.

To my family in Jönköping, my parents, **Tomas and Marita**, who have been incredibly supportive and gone out of their way to help me with all the logistics of travelling between Stockholm, Jönköping and London. To my grandparents, **Gudrun and Ernst**, who set me on this trajectory so many years ago through their storytelling and love for puzzles.

To the Kotecis in London, for accepting me into your family. **Sabri and Dylbere**, thank you for making London a second home for me, and being supportive even though I am stealing your daughter away. Thank you **Anisa and Anilda**, for helping make Bromyard House feel like home and for offering up your apartment as a temporary warehouse. Also, thank you **Lyra**, for being a very good dog.

To **Ardita**, my love and soon-to-be wife. You have been there for every step of the way, from the awkward wave with me seated on the back of Tony's motorcycle to covering my documents in red with suggestions. Every part of this thesis carries with it memories from our journey, including every jet plane take-off and each time we've stopped, collaborated, and listened. I cannot wait to see what adventures life has in store for us, simply you, and just me.

## 8 **REFERENCES**

- 1 Rovainen, C. M. Vestibulo-ocular reflexes in the adult sea lamprey. *Journal of comparative physiology* **112**, 159-164 (1976).
- 2 Sells, S. B. & Fixott, R. S. Evaluation of research on effects of visual training on visual functions. *American journal of ophthalmology* **44**, 230-236 (1957).
- 3 Clarkson, E. N. The evolution of the eye in trilobites. *Fossils and strata* **4** (1975).
- 4 Hughes, N. C. The evolution of trilobite body patterning. *Annu. Rev. Earth Planet. Sci.* **35**, 401-434 (2007).
- 5 Land, M., Mennie, N. & Rusted, J. The roles of vision and eye movements in the control of activities of daily living. *Perception* **28**, 1311-1328 (1999).
- 6 Walls, G. The evolutionary history of eye movements. *Vision Research* **2**, 69-80 (1962).
- 7 Fernald, R. D. Evolution of eyes. *Current opinion in neurobiology* **10**, 444-450 (2000).
- 8 Land, M. F. Eye movements of vertebrates and their relation to eye form and function. Journal of Comparative Physiology A **201**, 195-214 (2015).
- 9 Baker, R. From genes to behavior in the vestibular system. *Otolaryngology—Head and Neck Surgery* **119**, 263-275 (1998).
- 10 Hardcastle, B. J. & Krapp, H. G. Evolution of biological image stabilization. *Current Biology* **26**, R1010-R1021 (2016).
- 11 Angelaki, D. E. & Cullen, K. E. Vestibular system: the many facets of a multimodal sense. Annu. Rev. Neurosci. **31**, 125-150 (2008).
- Land, M. Eye movements in man and other animals. *Vision research* **162**, 1-7 (2019).
- 13 Martinez-Conde, S., Macknik, S. L. & Hubel, D. H. The role of fixational eye movements in visual perception. *Nature reviews. Neuroscience* **5**, 229-240, doi:10.1038/nrn1348 (2004).
- 14 HARRIS, A. J. Eye movements of the dogfish Squalus acanthias L. *Journal of Experimental Biology* **43**, 107-130 (1965).
- 15 Lambert, F. M., Combes, D., Simmers, J. & Straka, H. Gaze stabilization by efference copy signaling without sensory feedback during vertebrate locomotion. *Current Biology* 22, 1649-1658 (2012).
- 16 França de Barros, F. *et al.* Conservation of locomotion-induced oculomotor activity through evolution in higher tetrapods. *bioRxiv*, 2021.2006.2026.450039, doi:10.1101/2021.06.26.450039 (2021).
- 17 Lennerstrand, G., Han, Y. & Velay, J.-L. Properties of eye movements induced by activation of neck muscle proprioceptors. *Graefe's archive for clinical and experimental ophthalmology* **234**, 703-709 (1996).
- 18 Martinez-Conde, S. & Macknik, S. L. Fixational eye movements across vertebrates: comparative dynamics, physiology, and perception. *Journal of vision* **8**, 28-28 (2008).
- 19 in *Encyclopedia of Neuroscience* (eds Marc D. Binder, Nobutaka Hirokawa, & Uwe Windhorst) 1676-1676 (Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 2009).
- 20 Westheimer, G. Mechanism of saccadic eye movements. *AMA Archives of Ophthalmology* **52**, 710-724 (1954).
- 21 Van Rijn, L. & Collewijn, H. Eye torsion associated with disparity-induced vertical vergence in humans. *Vision research* **34**, 2307-2316 (1994).
- 22 Montarolo, P. G., Precht, W. & Strata, P. Functional organization of the mechanisms subserving the optokinetic nystagmus in the cat. *Neuroscience* **6**, 231-246 (1981).
- 23 Schor, C. M., Maxwell, J. S., McCANDLESS, J. & Graf, E. Adaptive control of vergence in humans. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences* **956**, 297-305 (2002).
- 24 Schall, J. D. On the role of frontal eye field in guiding attention and saccades. *Vision Research* **44**, 1453-1467, doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.visres.2003.10.025 (2004).
- 25 Sparks, D. L. The brainstem control of saccadic eye movements. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience* **3**, 952-964, doi:10.1038/nrn986 (2002).

- 26 Masseck, O. A. & Hoffmann, K. P. Comparative neurobiology of the optokinetic reflex. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences **1164**, 430-439 (2009).
- 27 Fetter, M. Vestibulo-ocular reflex. *Neuro-Ophthalmology* **40**, 35-51 (2007).
- 28 Han, Y. & Lennerstrand, G. Eye movements in normal subjects induced by vibratory activation of neck muscle proprioceptors. *Acta Ophthalmol Scand* **73**, 414-416 (1995).
- 29 Roll, R., Velay, J. L. & Roll, J. P. Eye and neck proprioceptive messages contribute to the spatial coding of retinal input in visually oriented activities. *Exp Brain Res* **85**, 423-431 (1991).
- 30 Mergner, T., Schweigart, G., Botti, F. & Lehmann, A. Eye movements evoked by proprioceptive stimulation along the body axis in humans. *Experimental brain research* **120**, 450-460 (1998).
- 31 Barnes, G. R. & Forbat, L. N. Cervical and Vestibular Afferent Control of Oculomotor Response in Man. *Acta Oto-Laryngologica* **88**, 79-87, doi:10.3109/00016487909137143 (1979).
- 32 Guyton, D. L. Ocular torsion: sensorimotor principles. *Graefe's archive for clinical and experimental ophthalmology* **226**, 241-245 (1988).
- 33 Sullivan, M. J. & Kertesz, A. E. Binocular coordination of torsional eye movements in cyclofusional response. *Vision Research* **18**, 943-949 (1978).
- 34 Crone, R. & Everhard-Halm, Y. Optically induced eye torsion. *Albrecht von Graefes Archiv für klinische und experimentelle Ophthalmologie* **195**, 231-239 (1975).
- 35 Pansell, T., Tribukait, A., Bolzani, R., Schworm, H. D. & Ygge, J. Drift in ocular counterrolling during static head tilt. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* **1039**, 554-557, doi:10.1196/annals.1325.066 (2005).
- 36 Merfeld, D. M., Teiwes, W., Clarke, A. H., Scherer, H. & Young, L. R. The dynamic contributions of the otolith organs to human ocular torsion. *Experimental brain research* 110, 315-321 (1996).
- 37 Collewijn, H., Van der Steen, J., Ferman, L. & Jansen, T. C. Human ocular counterroll: assessment of static and dynamic properties from electromagnetic scleral coil recordings. *Exp Brain Res* 59, 185-196 (1985).
- Pansell, T., Sverkersten, U. & Ygge, J. Visual spatial clues enhance ocular torsion response during visual tilt. *Exp Brain Res* **175**, 567-574, doi:10.1007/s00221-006-0574-8 (2006).
- 39 Nakayama, K. A new method of determining the primary position of the eye using Listing's law. *Am J Optom Physiol Opt* **55**, 331-336 (1978).
- 40 Brandt, T. & Dieterich, M. Different types of skew deviation. *Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery & Psychiatry* **54**, 549-550 (1991).
- 41 Jauregui-Renaud, K., Faldon, M., Clarke, A., Bronstein, A. M. & Gresty, M. A. Skew deviation of the eyes in normal human subjects induced by semicircular canal stimulation. *Neurosci Lett* **205**, 135-137 (1996).
- 42 Jauregui-Renaud, K., Faldon, M., Clarke, A. H., Bronstein, A. M. & Gresty, M. A. Otolith and semicircular canal contributions to the human binocular response to roll oscillation. *Acta Otolaryngol* **118**, 170-176 (1998).
- 43 Brodsky, M. C. Dissociated vertical divergence: a righting reflex gone wrong. *Archives of Ophthalmology* **117**, 1216-1222 (1999).
- 44 Brodsky, M. C. Dissociated Vertical Divergence: Perceptual Correlates of the Human Dorsal Light Reflex. *Archives of Ophthalmology* **120**, 1174-1178, doi:10.1001/archopht.120.9.1174 (2002).
- Ullén, F., Deliagina, T., Orlovsky, G. & Grillner, S. Visual potentiation of vestibular responses in lamprey reticulospinal neurons. *European Journal of Neuroscience* 8, 2298-2307 (1996).
- 46 Khan, S. & Chang, R. Anatomy of the vestibular system: a review. *NeuroRehabilitation* **32**, 437-443 (2013).
- 47 Saladin, K. S. Student Study Guide to Accompany Anatomy & Physiology: The Unity of Form and Function. (McGraw-Hill, 2012).

- 48 de Miguel, A. R., Zarowski, A., Sluydts, M., Macias, A. R. & Wuyts, F. L. The superiority of the otolith system. *Audiology and Neurotology* **25**, 35-41 (2020).
- 49 Lambert, F. M. & Bacqué-Cazenave, J. in *The Senses: A Comprehensive Reference (Second Edition)* (ed Bernd Fritzsch) 162-172 (Elsevier, 2020).
- 50 Crawford, J. & Vilis, T. Axes of eye rotation and Listing's law during rotations of the head. Journal of neurophysiology **65**, 407-423 (1991).
- 51 Hernandez, E. & Das, J. M. Neuroanatomy, Nucleus Vestibular. *StatPearls* [Internet] (2020).
- 52 Lee, S. & Kaylie, D. M. in *Encyclopedia of Otolaryngology, Head and Neck Surgery* (ed Stilianos E. Kountakis) 236-242 (Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 2013).
- 53 Cullen, K. E. The vestibular system: multimodal integration and encoding of self-motion for motor control. *Trends in neurosciences* **35**, 185-196 (2012).
- 54 Carpenter, R. H. *Movements of the Eyes, 2nd Rev.* (Pion Limited, 1988).
- 55 Büttner-Ennever, J. A. The extraocular motor nuclei: organization and functional neuroanatomy. *Progress in brain research* **151**, 95-125 (2006).
- 56 Carpenter, M. B. & Cowie, R. J. Connections and oculomotor projections of the superior vestibular nucleus and cell group 'y'. *Brain research* **336**, 265-287 (1985).
- 57 Brandt, T. & Strupp, M. General vestibular testing. *Clinical Neurophysiology* **116**, 406-426, doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinph.2004.08.009 (2005).
- 58 Pansell, T. *Ocular counter-rolling during head tilt*. (Institutionen för klinisk vetenskap/Department of Clinical Sciences, 2003).
- 59 Straka, H. & Dieringer, N. Basic organization principles of the VOR: lessons from frogs. *Progress in Neurobiology* **73**, 259-309,

doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pneurobio.2004.05.003 (2004).

- 60 Perge, J. A., Koch, K., Miller, R., Sterling, P. & Balasubramanian, V. How the optic nerve allocates space, energy capacity, and information. *Journal of Neuroscience* **29**, 7917-7928 (2009).
- 61 Furman, M. in *Neuronal Networks in Brain Function, CNS Disorders, and Therapeutics* (eds Carl L. Faingold & Hal Blumenfeld) 247-259 (Academic Press, 2014).
- 62 Purves, D. *et al.* Central projections of retinal ganglion cells. *Neuroscience* (2001).
- 63 Gamlin, P. D. The pretectum: connections and oculomotor-related roles. *Progress in brain research* **151**, 379-405 (2006).
- 64 Neuhuber, W. & Schrödl, F. Autonomic control of the eye and the iris. *Autonomic Neuroscience* **165**, 67-79 (2011).
- 65 May, P., Sun, W. & Hall, W. Reciprocal connections between the zona incerta and the pretectum and superior colliculus of the cat. *Neuroscience* **77**, 1091-1114 (1997).
- 66 Giolli, R. A., Blanks, R. H. & Lui, F. The accessory optic system: basic organization with an update on connectivity, neurochemistry, and function. *Progress in brain research* **151**, 407-440 (2006).
- 67 Casagrande, V. A. & Kaas, J. H. in *Primary Visual Cortex in Primates* (eds Alan Peters & Kathleen S. Rockland) 201-259 (Springer US, 1994).
- 68 Nassi, J. J., Lyon, D. C. & Callaway, E. M. The parvocellular LGN provides a robust disynaptic input to the visual motion area MT. *Neuron* **50**, 319-327 (2006).
- 69 Schor, C. M. in *Oculomotor Functions & Neurology* (ed Douglas G Horner) Ch. 13, (University of California at Berkeley School of Optometry, 1997).
- 70 Hoffmann, K.-P. Control of the optokinetic reflex by the nucleus of the optic tract in primates. *Progress in Brain Research* **80**, 173-182 (1989).
- 71 Collewijn, H. & Smeets, J. B. Early components of the human vestibulo-ocular response to head rotation: latency and gain. *Journal of Neurophysiology* **84**, 376-389 (2000).
- 72 Gellman, R., Carl, J. & Miles, F. Short latency ocular-following responses in man. *Visual neuroscience* **5**, 107-122 (1990).
- 73 Inoue, Y., Takemura, A., Kawano, K. & Mustari, M. Role of the pretectal nucleus of the optic tract in short-latency ocular following responses in monkeys. *Experimental brain research* **131**, 269-281 (2000).

- 74 Straka, H. & Baker, R. Vestibular blueprint in early vertebrates. *Frontiers in neural circuits* 7, 182 (2013).
- 75 Ono, S. & Mustari, M. J. Visual error signals from the pretectal nucleus of the optic tract guide motor learning for smooth pursuit. *Journal of neurophysiology* **103**, 2889-2899 (2010).
- 76 Robertson, B. *et al.* in *Progress in brain research* Vol. 212 337-349 (Elsevier, 2014).
- 77 Asteriti, S., Grillner, S. & Cangiano, L. A Cambrian origin for vertebrate rods. *Elife* **4**, e07166 (2015).
- 78 Jones, M. R., Grillner, S. & Robertson, B. Selective projection patterns from subtypes of retinal ganglion cells to tectum and pretectum: distribution and relation to behavior. *Journal of Comparative Neurology* **517**, 257-275 (2009).
- 79 Fritzsch, B., Sonntag, R., Dubuc, R., Ohta, Y. & Grillner, S. Organization of the six motor nuclei innervating the ocular muscles in lamprey. *Journal of Comparative Neurology* **294**, 491-506 (1990).
- 80 Pombal, M. A., Rodicio, M. C. & Anadón, R. Secondary vestibulo-oculomotor projections in larval sea lamprey: Anterior octavomotor nucleus. *Journal of Comparative Neurology* **372**, 568-580 (1996).
- 81 Kardamakis, A. A., Perez-Fernandez, J. & Grillner, S. Spatiotemporal interplay between multisensory excitation and recruited inhibition in the lamprey optic tectum. *Elife* **5**, e16472 (2016).
- Saitoh, K., Ménard, A. & Grillner, S. Tectal Control of Locomotion, Steering, and Eye Movements in Lamprey. *Journal of Neurophysiology* 97, 3093-3108, doi:10.1152/jn.00639.2006 (2007).
- 83 Suzuki, D. G., Pérez-Fernández, J., Wibble, T., Kardamakis, A. A. & Grillner, S. The role of the optic tectum for visually evoked orienting and evasive movements. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 201907962, doi:10.1073/pnas.1907962116 (2019).
- 84 Deliagina, T. & Fagerstedt, P. Responses of reticulospinal neurons in intact lamprey to vestibular and visual inputs. *Journal of neurophysiology* **83**, 864-878 (2000).
- Suryanarayana, S. M., Robertson, B., Wallén, P. & Grillner, S. The lamprey pallium provides a blueprint of the mammalian layered cortex. *Current Biology* 27, 3264-3277. e3265 (2017).
- 86 Keller, E. & Precht, W. Visual-vestibular responses in vestibular nuclear neurons in the intact and cerebellectomized, alert cat. *Neuroscience* **4**, 1599-1613 (1979).
- 87 Maekawa, K., Takeda, T. & Kimura, M. Responses of the nucleus of the optic tract neurons projecting to the nucleus reticularis tegmenti pontis upon optokinetic stimulation in the rabbit. *Neuroscience research* **2**, 1-25 (1984).
- 88 Reason, J. T. Motion sickness adaptation: a neural mismatch model. *J R Soc Med* **71**, 819-829 (1978).
- Cardin, V. & Smith, A. T. Sensitivity of human visual and vestibular cortical regions to egomotion-compatible visual stimulation. *Cereb Cortex* 20, 1964-1973, doi:10.1093/cercor/bhp268 (2010).
- 90 Wade, M. G. & Jones, G. The role of vision and spatial orientation in the maintenance of posture. *Phys Ther* **77**, 619-628 (1997).
- 91 Brandt, T., Arnold, F., Bles, W. & Kapteyn, T. S. The mechanism of physiological height vertigo: I. Theoretical approach and psychophysics. *Acta oto-laryngologica* **89**, 513-523 (1980).
- 92 Dieterich, M., Bense, S., Stephan, T., Yousry, T. A. & Brandt, T. fMRI signal increases and decreases in cortical areas during small-field optokinetic stimulation and central fixation. *Experimental Brain Research* **148**, 117-127 (2003).
- 93 Kikuchi, M. *et al.* Cortical activation during optokinetic stimulation–an fMRI study. *Acta oto-laryngologica* **129**, 440-443 (2009).
- 94 Ohlendorf, S., Sprenger, A., Speck, O., Haller, S. & Kimmig, H. Optic flow stimuli in and near the visual field centre: a group fMRI study of motion sensitive regions. *PloS one* **3**, e4043 (2008).

- 95 Sunaert, S., Van Hecke, P., Marchal, G. & Orban, G. A. Motion-responsive regions of the human brain. *Experimental brain research* **127**, 355-370 (1999).
- 96 Deutschländer, A. *et al.* Sensory system interactions during simultaneous vestibular and visual stimulation in PET. *Human brain mapping* **16**, 92-103 (2002).
- Eickhoff, S. B., Weiss, P. H., Amunts, K., Fink, G. R. & Zilles, K. Identifying human parietoinsular vestibular cortex using fMRI and cytoarchitectonic mapping. *Human brain mapping* 27, 611-621 (2006).
- Suzuki, M. *et al.* Cortical and subcortical vestibular response to caloric stimulation detected by functional magnetic resonance imaging. *Cognitive Brain Research* 12, 441-449 (2001).
- 99 Bense, S. *et al.* Brainstem and cerebellar fMRI-activation during horizontal and vertical optokinetic stimulation. *Experimental Brain Research* **174**, 312-323 (2006).
- 100 Dieterich, M., Bucher, S., Seelos, K. & Brandt, T. Cerebellar activation during optokinetic stimulation and saccades. *Neurology* **54**, 148-148 (2000).
- 101 Redfern, M. S., Yardley, L. & Bronstein, A. M. Visual influences on balance. *Journal of anxiety disorders* **15**, 81-94 (2001).
- 102 McCall, A. A., Miller, D. M. & Yates, B. J. Descending influences on vestibulospinal and vestibulosympathetic reflexes. *Frontiers in neurology* **8**, 112 (2017).
- 103 Uesaki, M. & Ashida, H. Optic-flow selective cortical sensory regions associated with selfreported states of vection. *Frontiers in psychology* **6**, 775 (2015).
- 104 Guerraz, M. & Bronstein, A. Ocular versus extraocular control of posture and equilibrium. *Neurophysiologie Clinique/Clinical Neurophysiology* **38**, 391-398 (2008).
- 105 McCorry, L. K. Physiology of the autonomic nervous system. *American journal of pharmaceutical education* **71** (2007).
- 106 Arza, A. *et al.* Measuring acute stress response through physiological signals: towards a quantitative assessment of stress. *Medical & biological engineering & computing* **57**, 271-287 (2019).
- 107 Feinberg, R. & Podolak, E. *Latency of pupillary reflex to light stimulation and its relationship to aging*. Vol. 65 (Federal Aviation Agency, Office of Aviation Medicine, 1965).
- 108 Torres-Salomao, L., Mahfouf, M. & El-Samahy, E. in *2015 17th international conference on e-health networking, application & services (HealthCom).* 286-291 (IEEE).
- 109 Gamlin, P. & Clarke, R. J. The pupillary light reflex pathway of the primate. *Journal of the American Optometric Association* **66**, 415-418 (1995).
- 110 Joshi, S. & Gold, J. I. Pupil size as a window on neural substrates of cognition. *Trends in cognitive sciences* **24**, 466-480 (2020).
- 111 Breton-Provencher, V. & Sur, M. Active control of arousal by a locus coeruleus GABAergic circuit. *Nature neuroscience* **22**, 218-228 (2019).
- 112 Gelbard-Sagiv, H., Magidov, E., Sharon, H., Hendler, T. & Nir, Y. Noradrenaline modulates visual perception and late visually evoked activity. *Current Biology* **28**, 2239-2249. e2236 (2018).
- 113 Magnusson, M., Pyykkö, I. & Jäntti, V. Effect of alertness and visual attention on optokinetic nystagmus in humans. *American journal of otolaryngology* **6**, 419-425 (1985).
- 114 Magnusson, M., Pyykkö, I., Schalén, L. & Enbom, H. in *Neurophysiology of the Vestibular System* Vol. 41 53-57 (Karger Publishers, 1988).
- 115 Wang, J., Yu, L., He, M. & Qi, C. Effect of Acute Psychological Stress on Motion-in-Depth Perception: An Event-Related Potential Study. *Advances in cognitive psychology* **16**, 353 (2020).
- 116 Corbett, J. J. in *Seminars in neurology.* 063-076 (Copyright© 2002 by Thieme Medical Publishers, Inc., 333 Seventh Avenue, New ...).
- 117 Bartl, K., Lehnen, N., Kohlbecher, S. & Schneider, E. Head impulse testing using videooculography. (2009).
- 118 MacDougall, H. G., McGarvie, L. A., Halmagyi, G. M., Curthoys, I. S. & Weber, K. P. The video head impulse test (vHIT) detects vertical semicircular canal dysfunction. *PloS one* **8**, e61488 (2013).

- 119 Kattah, J. C., Talkad, A. V., Wang, D. Z., Hsieh, Y.-H. & Newman-Toker, D. E. HINTS to diagnose stroke in the acute vestibular syndrome: three-step bedside oculomotor examination more sensitive than early MRI diffusion-weighted imaging. *Stroke* **40**, 3504-3510 (2009).
- 120 Brandt, T. & Dieterich, M. Skew deviation with ocular torsion: a vestibular brainstem sign of topographic diagnostic value. *Ann Neurol* **33**, 528-534, doi:10.1002/ana.410330518 (1993).
- 121 Van der Stoep, N., Van der Stigchel, S., Van Engelen, R. C., Biesbroek, J. M. & Nijboer, T. C. Impairments in multisensory integration after stroke. *Journal of cognitive neuroscience* **31**, 885-899 (2019).
- 122 Crucianelli, L., Paloyelis, Y., Ricciardi, L., Jenkinson, P. M. & Fotopoulou, A. Embodied precision: intranasal oxytocin modulates multisensory integration. *Journal of cognitive neuroscience* **31**, 592-606 (2019).
- 123 Nagao, S. Effects of vestibulocerebellar lesions upon dynamic characteristics and adaptation of vestibulo-ocular and optokinetic responses in pigmented rabbits. *Experimental Brain Research* **53**, 36-46 (1983).
- 124 Cogan, D. G., Chu, F. C. & Reingold, D. B. Ocular signs of cerebellar disease. *Archives of Ophthalmology* **100**, 755-760 (1982).
- 125 Carmichael, E., Dix, M. & Hallpike, C. Lesions of the cerebral hemispheres and their effects upon optokinetic and caloric nystagmus. *Brain* **77**, 345-372 (1954).
- 126 Estañol, B., Romero, R., de Viteri, M. S., Mateos, J. H. & Corvera, J. Oculomotor and oculovestibular functions in a hemispherectomy patient. *Archives of neurology* **37**, 365-368 (1980).
- 127 Newman-Toker, D. E. *et al.* Imprecision in patient reports of dizziness symptom quality: a cross-sectional study conducted in an acute care setting. *Mayo Clin Proc* **82**, 1329-1340, doi:10.4065/82.11.1329 (2007).
- 128 Newman-Toker, D. E. *et al.* Spectrum of dizziness visits to US emergency departments: cross-sectional analysis from a nationally representative sample. *Mayo Clin Proc* **83**, 765-775, doi:10.4065/83.7.765 (2008).
- 129 Bronstein, A. M. The visual vertigo syndrome. *Acta Otolaryngol Suppl* **520 Pt 1**, 45-48 (1995).
- 130 Vuralli, D. *et al.* Visual and Postural Motion-Evoked Dizziness Symptoms Are Predominant in Vestibular Migraine Patients. *Pain Medicine* **19**, 178-183, doi:10.1093/pm/pnx182 (2018).
- 131 Mucha, A. *et al.* A brief vestibular/ocular motor screening (VOMS) assessment to evaluate concussions: preliminary findings. *The American journal of sports medicine* **42**, 2479-2486 (2014).
- 132 Bronstein, A. M., Yardley, L., Moore, A. P. & Cleeves, L. Visually and posturally mediated tilt illusion in Parkinson's disease and in labyrinthine defective subjects. *Neurology* **47**, 651-656, doi:10.1212/WNL.47.3.651 (1996).
- 133 Agarwal, K. *et al.* Visual dependence and BPPV. *Journal of neurology* **259**, 1117-1124, doi:https://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s00415-011-6311-7 (2012).
- Hueweler, R., Kandil, F. I., Alpers, G. W. & Gerlach, A. L. The impact of visual flow stimulation on anxiety, dizziness, and body sway in individuals with and without fear of heights. *Behaviour Research and Therapy* **47**, 345-352, doi:10.1016/j.brat.2009.01.011 (2009).
- Mittenberg, W., Canyock, E. M., Condit, D. & Patton, C. Treatment of post-concussion syndrome following mild head injury. *Journal of clinical and experimental neuropsychology* 23, 829-836 (2001).
- 136 Bertolini, G. *et al.* Measuring optokinetic after-nystagmus: potential for detecting patients with signs of visual dependence following concussion. *Journal of Neurology*, doi:10.1007/s00415-020-10359-8 (2020).

- 137 Zur, O., Dickstein, R., Dannenbaum, E., Carmeli, E. & Fung, J. The influence of visual vertigo and vestibulopathy on oculomotor responses. *Journal of vestibular research : equilibrium* & orientation **24**, 305-311, doi:10.3233/VES-140519 (2014).
- 138 Saber Tehrani, A. S. *et al.* Rising annual costs of dizziness presentations to U.S. emergency departments. *Acad Emerg Med* **20**, 689-696, doi:10.1111/acem.12168 (2013).
- 139 Lackner, J. R. Motion sickness: more than nausea and vomiting. *Experimental brain research* **232**, 2493-2510, doi:10.1007/s00221-014-4008-8 (2014).
- 140 Dai, M., Kaufmann, H., Raphan, T. & Cohen, B. Promethazine affects optokinetic but not vestibular responses in monkeys. *Aviat Space Environ Med* **71**, 1003-1012 (2000).
- 141 Weerts, A. P. *et al.* Pharmaceutical countermeasures have opposite effects on the utricles and semicircular canals in man. *Audiology & neuro-otology* **17**, 235-242, doi:10.1159/000337273 (2012).
- 142 Shupak, A., Doweck, I., Gordon, C. R. & Spitzer, O. Cinnarizine in the prophylaxis of seasickness: laboratory vestibular evaluation and sea study. *Clin Pharmacol Ther* **55**, 670-680 (1994).
- 143 Brainard, A. & Gresham, C. Prevention and treatment of motion sickness. *American family physician* **90**, 41-46 (2014).
- 144 Gregory C DeAngelis, D. E. A. in *The Neural Bases of Multisensory Processes* (ed Wallace MT Murray MM) Ch. 31, (CRC Press/Taylor & Francis, 2012).
- 145 Fukushima, K. The interstitial nucleus of Cajal in the midbrain reticular formation and vertical eye movement. *Neuroscience research* **10**, 159-187 (1991).
- 146 Suryanarayana, S. M., Pérez-Fernández, J., Robertson, B. & Grillner, S. The evolutionary origin of visual and somatosensory representation in the vertebrate pallium. *Nature Ecology & Evolution* **4**, 639-651 (2020).
- 147 Baldassi, S., Megna, N. & Burr, D. C. Visual clutter causes high-magnitude errors. *PLoS biology* **4**, e56 (2006).
- 148 Heerwagen, J. H., Heubach, J. G., Montgomery, J. & Weimer, W. C. Environmental design, work, and well being: managing occupational stress through changes in the workplace environment. *Aaohn Journal* **43**, 458-468 (1995).
- 149 Guerraz, M. *et al.* Visual vertigo: symptom assessment, spatial orientation and postural control. *Brain* **124**, 1646-1656 (2001).
- 150 Newton, R. Balance and falls among older people. *Generations* **27**, 27-31 (2003).
- 151 Wylie, D., Bischof, W. & Frost, B. Common reference frame for neural coding of translational and rotational optic flow. *Nature* **392**, 278-282 (1998).
- 152 Waespe, W. & Henn, V. The velocity response of vestibular nucleus neurons during vestibular, visual, and combined angular acceleration. *Experimental Brain Research* **37**, 337-347 (1979).
- 153 Eagle, R. A. & Rogers, B. J. Motion detection is limited by element density not spatial frequency. *Vision research* **36**, 545-558 (1996).
- 154 Haibach, P., Slobounov, S. & Newell, K. Egomotion and Vection in Young and Elderly Adults. *Gerontology* **55**, 637-643, doi:10.1159/000235816 (2009).
- 155 Maxwell, J. S. & Schor, C. M. The coordination of binocular eye movements: vertical and torsional alignment. *Vision research* **46**, 3537-3548 (2006).
- 156 Van Rijn, L., Van der Steen, J. & Collewijn, H. Visually induced cycloversion and cyclovergence. *Vision Research* **32**, 1875-1883 (1992).
- 157 Lubeck, A. J., Bos, J. E. & Stins, J. F. Interaction between depth order and density affects vection and postural sway. *PloS one* **10**, e0144034 (2015).
- 158 Partala, T. & Surakka, V. Pupil size variation as an indication of affective processing. International journal of human-computer studies **59**, 185-198 (2003).
- 159 Birren, J. E., Casperson, R. C. & Botwinick, J. Age changes in pupil size. *Journal of Gerontology* **5**, 216-221 (1950).
- 160 Cheung, B. S. & Howard, I. P. Optokinetic torsion: dynamics and relation to circularvection. *Vision Res* **31**, 1327-1335 (1991).

- 161 Dichgans, J. & Brandt, T. Optokinetic motion sickness and pseudo-Coriolis effects induced by moving visual stimuli. *Acta oto-laryngologica* **76**, 339-348 (1973).
- 162 Yokota, Y., Aoki, M., Mizuta, K., Ito, Y. & Isu, N. Motion sickness susceptibility associated with visually induced postural instability and cardiac autonomic responses in healthy subjects. *Acta oto-laryngologica* **125**, 280-285 (2005).
- 163 Clarke, F. & Belcher, S. On the localization of Troxler's effect in the visual pathway. *Vision Research* **2**, 53-68 (1962).
- 164 Cazin, L., Precht, W. & Lannou, J. Pathways mediating optokinetic responses of vestibular nucleus neurons in the rat. *Pflügers Archiv* **384**, 19-29 (1980).
- 165 Waespe, W. & Henn, V. Neuronal activity in the vestibular nuclei of the alert monkey during vestibular and optokinetic stimulation. *Experimental Brain Research* **27**, 523-538 (1977).
- 166 Wibble, T., Engström, J. & Pansell, T. Visual and Vestibular Integration Express Summative Eye Movement Responses and Reveal Higher Visual Acceleration Sensitivity than Previously Described. *Investigative Ophthalmology & Visual Science* **61**, 4-4 (2020).
- 167 Fritzsch, B. Evolution of the vestibulo-ocular system. *Otolaryngology—Head and Neck Surgery* **119**, 182-192 (1998).
- 168 Cohen, B. & DeJong, J. M. Meclizine and placebo in treating vertigo of vestibular origin. Relative efficacy in a double-blind study. *Arch Neurol* **27**, 129-135 (1972).
- 169 Boussageon, R. *et al.* Clinical efficacy of Acetylleucine, meclozine and betahistine in dizziness: systematic review and meta-analysis of randomiser controlled trials. *Exercer-La Revue Francophone De Medecine Generale*, 216-223 (2017).
- 170 Doweck, I., Gordon, C. R., Spitzer, O., Melamed, Y. & Shupak, A. The vestibulo-ocular reflex (VOR) under the influence of cinnarizine. *J Vestib Res* **4**, 215-220 (1994).
- 171 Waespe, W., Cohen, B. & Raphan, T. Role of the flocculus and paraflocculus in optokinetic nystagmus and visual-vestibular interactions: effects of lesions. *Experimental Brain Research* **50**, 9-33 (1983).
- 172 Förstberg, J. *Ride comfort and motion sickness in tilting trains*, Institutionen för farkostteknik, (2000).
- 173 Sinha, N. K. & Ananthkrishnan, N. Maximum steady roll rate in zero-sideslip roll maneuvers of aircraft. *Journal of aircraft* **39**, 897-899 (2002).
- 174 Martin, N. & Oosterveld, W. The vestibular effects of meclizine hydrochloride-niacin combination (Antivert). *Acta oto-laryngologica* **70**, 6-9 (1970).
- 175 Tu, L. *et al.* Brain Activation by H1 Antihistamines Challenges Conventional View of Their Mechanism of Action in Motion Sickness: A Behavioral, c-Fos and Physiological Study in Suncus murinus (House Musk Shrew). *Front Physiol* 8, 412, doi:10.3389/fphys.2017.00412 (2017).
- Sanchez, C. K. & Lusk, K. A. The Pharmacologic Management of Motion Sickness. US Pharm 40, 34-38 (2015).
- 177 Cheung, B. S., Heskin, R. & Hofer, K. D. Failure of cetirizine and fexofenadine to prevent motion sickness. *Annals of Pharmacotherapy* **37**, 173-177 (2003).
- 178 Kubo, F. *et al.* Functional architecture of an optic flow-responsive area that drives horizontal eye movements in zebrafish. *Neuron* **81**, 1344-1359 (2014).
- 179 Hess, B. J. On the role of ocular torsion in binocular visual matching. *Scientific reports* **8**, 1-12 (2018).